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Thursday, February 26th, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Mr. Rogers, are there any preliminary matters before you call your third panel?
Preliminary Matters:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you, Ms. Chaplin.  There are a number of matters I would like to address this morning at the beginning.

First is some issues which arose last day concerning the filing of confidential documents, and I would like to address the Board about this.

Pursuant to an interrogatory, the company agreed to file a copy of its business plan on a confidential basis.  This led, you recall, to an in camera session on Tuesday.  In that in camera session, requests were made for further information which the company considers to be confidential.

Specifically, the company was asked by my friend, Mr. Thompson, I believe, for a copy of the budget which was approved on November 13, 2008; and, later, Mr. DeVellis asked the company to produce a copy of attachment A to the business plan of August 2008, which has already been filed.

Later in the cross-examination - in fact, later I guess in the day - the company was asked to consider waving the confidentiality which attached to the transcript of those proceedings, and I would like to address all three of those items now.

First off, I would like the Board -- I do want to assure the Board the company does not ask for confidentiality protection lightly.  There are very good reasons for its claim for confidentiality.  As I outlined in the last distribution case, and on which I can elaborate further should the need arise, the company is precluded from selective disclosure of forward-looking financial information, and there are very serious consequences to those who violate those rules.

Further, the company, like all companies, must have some degree of confidentiality about internal discussions and decisions so that there can be a free and honest exchange of information internally.  Disclosure of this information can have a very chilling effect on the way in which a corporation does business and restricts the free flow of information which is so necessary to an efficiently run organization.

Now, I know the Board has heard that before, but it is a real concern of my client.

I just want the Board to know this company takes its confidentiality requests very seriously and doesn't do so lightly.  In return, it asks that the Board's confidentiality protections be rigorously applied.

Now, I acknowledge that confidentiality tends to fall in a continuum, where some information is more sensitive than others.  And the cross-examination on Tuesday, and the transcript of what went on there, I would say fell at the benign end of this protection requirement.  I mean, there wasn't -- nothing in there that was a major, major confidential concern, to be quite frank with you.

Nevertheless, I ask on behalf of my client that the cross-examination information and the transcript itself be kept confidential in accordance with your rules.  I appreciate some of the logistical problems this creates, but my client is very concerned about a relaxation of these confidentiality rules, which it considers to essential to protect the confidentiality safeguards in your process.

My client considers your confidentiality protection to be paramount in its process and extremely important, and that documents which are accepted by you for filing on a confidential basis be protected.  I am concerned that these protections not be unravelled thread by thread.  And, hence, I ask that the transcript of Tuesday's proceedings be kept confidential.

Now, let me deal with Mr. Thompson's request about the budget documents and the request from Mr. DeVellis for production of attachment A to the business planning document of August 2008.

I can tell you, Madam Chair, that the company is prepared to file, on a confidential basis, attachment A to the business plan dated August 14th, 2008.

It is also prepared to file with the Board a copy of the 2009 budget and the 2010-2011 outlook, along with the submission to the board of directors and the attachments.  This is what Mr. Thompson requested and maybe a little more.

It does so, at the same time, ask you to do so -- to accept it on a confidential basis.

I would like to say this to you, as well, that I tender these documents with some reluctance, as I'm concerned that this not be a precedent for future cases or to be a springboard or use as an ever-increasing intrusion into the company's internal planning processes.

The company has been before the Board only a few times, and it is a large complex company, and I believe it is important for you to see that the planning process that lies behind its application, and for the intervenors to see, as well, and, hence, the decision is made to produce this documentation to you.

I do have copies here today, or I will very shortly, of this information, which can be distributed to those who have signed the undertakings.  Those will be available at the break, and I would suggest we defer that until then.

You will see, once you get this material, Madam Chair, members of the Board, that there is a fair amount of forward-looking financial information contained in these documents, and it is highly sensitive information, and the company has very great concern that strict confidentiality be maintained with respect to these documents.

Now, I am aware that the Board's confidentiality rules require that those receiving the documents either return them or I think certify that they have been destroyed.  We have some controversy about that, but because of the highly sensitive nature of these documents, in my client's eyes, which we propose to table today, I do ask the Board require those receiving the documents return them to Hydro One.

I hope the intervenors will cooperate with this request.  Even though I appreciate it may involve some inconvenience, I think it is relatively insignificant and I would be grateful if people would agree to that condition.

So my proposal is that we will have these documents available for the Board at the break.  You will have a chance to look at them.  We can distribute them to those who have signed the undertaking, if you agree with this process I have suggested.

There may be questions arising out of these documents.  I appreciate people will need a little bit of time to look at them.  So my suggestion is that we proceed today with the ordinary course of events and that, if necessary - and I am realistic enough to think it will be that people will have some questions on these documents - that we have an in camera session tomorrow to deal with it, if that is satisfactory to you.

Now, you may want to look at these documents before you decide how to deal with them, and perhaps we could then leave it at that until after the break once you have had a chance to very briefly look at them over the break.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Do any other counsel have submissions at this point?  Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I agree with Mr. Rogers.  We should have a look at the documents before we make final submissions on whether they should be kept in confidence or not kept in confidence.

Just by way of a preview, my position is that this company is wholly owned by the province of Ontario.  It is essentially 100 percent regulated.  Its planning processes and forward planning are central to a determination of the rates that it charges, and your job is to examine these plans on the public record and determine the rates.

So as a general principle, I think all of these plans that they have made, whether they're reflected in the filing or somewhere else, should be subject to public scrutiny.  But I agree, let's take a look at them, see if there is anything in them that could truly be characterized as highly sensitive and of concern to the company, and revisit the issue of confidentiality or no confidentiality after we have seen the documents.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Any other counsel?

One moment, please.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  We'll proceed on the basis proposed by Mr. Rogers, that the documents be circulated to the parties who have signed the confidentiality undertaking.  I believe you're saying that can be done by the break?


MR. ROGERS:  We'll have them here at the break, and I propose to make them available over the break.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And then we will take submissions from the intervenors on the question of confidentiality, and also Mr. Rogers' position about the returning of the documents, and also that the transcript remain confidential, and we will try to do that first thing after lunch.

Mr. Thompson, do you expect you would be able to do that?


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And that way we hopefully would be in a position to decide either later today or first thing tomorrow morning and proceed on that basis, okay?

MR. ROGERS:  Very good.  Thank you very much.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Now, I have a few more preliminary matters.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, okay.

MR. ROGERS:  It's a big morning for preliminary matters.

There are some responses which I would like to file, some to undertakings and some to questions that were raised, one by Mr. Quesnelle, towards the end of yesterday, and I will deal with these with the witnesses.

But if we could -- perhaps the best thing to do is to file an undertaking response first, which is J2.7.  And copies of this have been given to Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Madam Chair, I don't propose to give this a separate exhibit number.  It is already marked as J2.7.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Zwarenstein will bring you copies.


MR. ROGERS:  The next order of business is to table some documents which really come in response to questions, I think, asked by Mr. Quesnelle, and then to some extent, I think, to -- Madam Chair, by you.


And these have to do -- well, two topics, really.  First, Mr. Quesnelle was asking about equipment failures which may not show up in interruption to customers because of redundancy in the system, and whether or not the company had analysis in another lower level that might assist with that issue.


And, yes, indeed, there is, and I would like to table an exhibit, which is Attachment A and Attachment B, which actually is, I am told, part of a presentation that was made at a stakeholdering process in this case.  And I think it might be useful if we could give that an exhibit number.  It would be K...

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  K3.1.  That is Attachments A and B from EB-2008-0272.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  ATTACHMENTS A AND B FROM EB-2008-0272

MR. ROGERS:  And I propose -- I will ask the witnesses to walk us through this document, sir, to help explain it, but it just so happened that the company does keep this information, and in fact presented it on this basis to stakeholders.


Next, there were questions about asset need and minimum requirements.  You may recall yesterday the discussion came up.  And I think, Ms. Chaplin, you asked about company concerns about rate impacts and so on in this context.

We have an exhibit here which I would like to file, which provides some tables which I think will assist the Board with this.  And I will ask Mr. Van Dusen to help us read through this once he is sworn, but if I could just table these now.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We will call it Exhibit K3.2.  And Mr. Rogers, I see I improperly read the file number last time, because I thought this was a different case.  You have, of course, put the current file number.

What is this document from?  Or how should we -- what should we call it?

MR. ROGERS:  It's been a document put together to try and answer some of the questions that were raised yesterday.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, it's for this case.  I see.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So we could call it a --

MR. ROGERS:  Well, you can call it asset need assessment document.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  ASSET NEED ASSESSMENT DOCUMENT

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  It talks about -- you will recall yesterday there was a discussion about, the company had a minimum level of requirement and different layers on top of that.  This document is intended to address that concern, and I will ask Mr. Van Dusen in a few moments to lead you through it.


Now, those are the undertakings I have available this morning.  I will have more, I hope, by the break and throughout the day.  I will file them as soon as they're ready.


Now, there are two other matters I would like to deal with just before we begin, if I could.  Mr. Vlahos asked me yesterday towards the end of the day, at about transcript 238 or so, about the company's preference should the Board decide to reduce the revenue requirement in certain areas.

And I reviewed the transcript, sir, and I can confirm that my answer was substantially correct, but it might be helpful if I could enlarge.  You asked me to do so before the argument, and let me take the opportunity now.


The company has put forward a proposal in this case which, as you have heard and will hear again, it believes is sound.  It has been carefully considered, and it's intended to balance the interests of the ratepayers with the customers of this utility.


The applicant takes very seriously its obligation and responsibility to ensure that the transmission system is both safe and reliable.  It knows that its failure to do so would have very serious consequences for its customers and the province at large, but it also knows that this responsibility must be discharged with a sensitivity to the cost of providing the service to the ratepayers, because after all, the ratepayers of this company are its customers.  And the proposals that this company is making to support this system are intended to benefit its customers.


The cost of under-funding, should that occur, will be borne by those same customers, although in different ways, perhaps in different times, and in different proportions.


Now, as I have said, the company has put forward its carefully considered proposals which, in its judgment, properly balance those interests.  However, it understands that this Board has a serious responsibility too, and I hope it is apparent to the Board that this company very much respects this process.


To answer your question about the cuts, the company neither wants nor expect that the Board will micro-manage its affairs.  It understands well, Mr. Vlahos, that that is its responsibility.


However, should the Board disagree with the company's proposals, it would be helpful to the company if the Board could specify where it considers the spending cuts to be -- or the spending plans, rather, to be unacceptable, rather than simply making an across-the-board cut, as is sometimes recommended.


If spending plans need to be reduced, it will result in a reassessment of the risks to the system and the best means of deploying the available resources.  In this respect it would be most helpful to have the Board's views, to the extent the Board feels able, to indicate where, in your judgment, any reductions in spending would be most appropriate.


So that is essentially what I said yesterday in a little more detail.


Now, the last question I would like to deal with, and then we will get to the witnesses, is the question that you asked again, Mr. Vlahos, about what the company really is seeking by way of approvals for capital projects which fall beyond the in-service period.


In the application, the company does request approval of its capital planning -- plans.  But more specifically to answer your question, I can refer you to an exhibit, which is probably the best thing to do.


It is Exhibit D1 -- you don't need -- you can turn it up if you like, but it's D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 9.  And there it deals with the different categories of capital projects that are involved in this case.

And I believe your question, sir, went really to category 3, and let me just read to you what it says in the application -- or in the evidence, rather, but I think it summarizes what the company is asking you to do.

Category 3 is development capital projects that have significant spending within the test years 2009 and 2010, yet do not have an in-service date in any of the test years and do not require project-specific approvals from the OEB.


For these projects, Hydro One transmission is seeking guidance from the Board on the appropriateness of the need, the proposed solution, and the recoverability of the project cost.  The actual in-service costs would be included in rate base when the project goes in service, subject to Board approval at a future revenue-requirement proceeding.


So that's what the evidence says.  And we had this same discussion, really, I think, in the distribution case.  I imagine the Board is concerned that it not bind the hands of subsequent panels when it comes -- when these assets come in service, and that is not the intent of the company.


We lay out -- they lay out these plans for you and for the intervenors to see.  There is no rate impact in this rate case, but there will be a big rate impact down the road that's recognized.

I think what the company asks is that not concrete approval which you cannot -- which will bind the hands of a subsequent panel, but any guidance that you can give, should you feel these plans are, based on the information available to you at the moment, inappropriate.  That's really what I think the company is seeking.

Now, there is -- sorry to be so longwinded about this, but like everything in these cases, it is complicated.  There is another category, and that is this work development for the IPSP and other long-term projects, the pre-engineering work that we talked about, which is found at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3, page 7.  C1, tab 2, schedule 3, page 7.

This is a summary of development work for what's called IPSP and other long-term projects.  There was quite a bit of discussion about this the other day.  This is a little bit different, because, in this case, these are pre-engineering costs.  These are costs that are being incurred by the company to prepare for what it believes it will have to do in the future because of the urgent need to get the planning started for these projects.

Ordinarily, the company may be seeking to expense these costs.  These are costs that companies like this must incur to prepare for the future.  And you will recall there were some questions about getting an advantage on competitors and so on.  Some of this work, I suppose, will -- may be competitive, and I assume those who will be wanting to compete for them are probably doing the same kind of work now.

But rather than asking this Board to expense these items as they might otherwise do in other times, the company is proposing that these pre-engineering costs be collected in a variance account so that they have no effect on rates in this proceeding, but that they will be kept track of and that, at some future time, the company will come to you to ask to approve and clear the amount in that account.  And you or your colleagues at that time will have to make the judgment as to whether these costs were prudently incurred and whether they should be charged to ratepayers.

So that's the reason why the company is doing it in that way.  I hope that helps.

I think that exhausts my preliminary comments this morning and I am ready to move on to the witnesses.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Why don't we do that, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  This will be panel 3, and I wonder if they could be sworn, please.
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Keith McDonell, Sworn
Examination by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

Mr. McDonell, can we start with you, sir?

MR. MCDONELL:  Sure.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand that you were educated, at among other places, at Queen's University, where you obtained a -- you completed the course requirements for a master of industrial relations?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have worked with Ontario Hydro, I see, or Hydro One since 1991, sir?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is manager of human resources operations?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is found at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, page 8.  Is that an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?

MR. MCDONELL:  It is.

MR. ROGERS:  You're here to replace Ms. McKellar, I guess, in this case, are you?

MR. MCDONELL:  I will try my best.

MR. ROGERS:  All right, sir.  Have you ever appeared before the Energy Board before?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I have not.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be dealing with this morning, Mr. McDonell?

MR. MCDONELL:  I can speak to two topics, generally.  That would be corporate staffing at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 1, as well as compensation, wages and benefits at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Mr. Van Dusen, you, sir, are presently the director of business integration for the applicant company?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And I know you have appeared before the Board on a number of other occasions?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is found at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, page 16.  Is that an accurate summary of your qualifications?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  Tell us the areas of this evidence that you will be dealing with this morning, please.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Good morning.  I'll be dealing with several areas of evidence this morning.  I'll be talking about the planning process overall, investment prioritization process.  I will also be talking to the transmission benchmarking study, cost efficiency areas.

I will also be talking to asset management costs, talking to cost of sales, the costing of work, and also be talking to in-service capital additions and the IT capital expenditures, as well as the facility and real estate capital expenditures and the transport and work equipment service capital expenditure areas.

MR. ROGERS:  It sounds as though you might be busy over the next little while.

Mr. Innis, you, sir, hold a bachelor of commerce in finance and accounting from McMaster University?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you're a member of the Society of Management Accountants, I see?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is found at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, page 7.  Is that an accurate summary of your qualifications, sir?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  You are presently the senior manager of regulatory finance and corporate finance for the applicant company?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And I know that you've testified on a number of occasions before, have you not?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have.

MR. ROGERS:  Would you tell the Board, please, which areas of the evidence you will be addressing?

MR. INNIS:  I will be talking to areas with respect to revenue requirement, rate base, regulatory assets, and corporate functions and services and other OM&A, and some of the supporting exhibits for those areas of responsibility.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, sir.  Moving to you, Mr. Curtis, your CV is found at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, page 5.  That's an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  I know that you have a master's degree in nuclear physics from the State University of New York, among other degrees?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You have worked with this utility for many years, beginning I think back in 1978?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. ROGERS:  Over that time, you have progressed to different functions within the company and presently are the director of asset management process and policies for the company?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  What does that title authorize you to answer this morning?

MR. CURTIS:  The area of my evidence this morning will be around the information technology exhibits, which would be D1, tab 3, schedule 6 and C1, tab 2, schedule 9 as well as the Cornerstone exhibits, which are D1, tab 3, schedule 7 and C1, tab 2, schedule 10.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Van Dusen, one last question for you.

As I think perhaps the most experienced person on the panel at least in this particular role, can you confirm for us that you are familiar with the evidence that will be dealt with by this panel and that, so far as you are aware, it's an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can confirm that.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  That concludes that part of the examination, Madam Chair.  I would like the opportunity, if I could, to just lead Mr. Van Dusen through a couple of these exhibits.  I think it might be helpful to the Board if I could do that?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.

MR. ROGERS:  The first one perhaps that we should start with would be the document entitled "Attachment A" and "Attachment B".  this goes to your questions, Mr. Quesnelle, yesterday.  It's been marked as Exhibit K3.1.  It's a 22-page document.

Mr. Van Dusen, I don't want to spend a great deal of time on this, but I am hoping you can help us understand what this is.  First of all, where did this document come from?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There are two documents in the attachments.  Attachment A is material that was presented at the stakeholder session on June 4th, 2008 to deal with this proceeding.  It was a presentation entitled "Considerations and Determined Asset Sustainment Requirements".  It was presented by the then director of the asset management process and policy areas, Mr. Tonneguzzo.


It went through, as it says, the various considerations in determining the sustaining asset requirements, including taking a look at not just overall delivery point interruptions, but looking at specific equipment-type trends and equipment-type issues that Hydro One is dealing with.


MR. ROGERS:  So, now, is this the point that you believe Mr. Quesnelle was getting at yesterday -- or, I'm sorry, Tuesday afternoon about failures of equipment that might not show up because of redundancy in the system?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  Hydro One does indeed do much tracking of equipment-related information, including their reliability and, where possible, benchmarking across CEA and other organizations to take a look.  But most importantly, it helps us understand the trends in our various pieces of equipment and what those trends tell us, in terms of what may be required in terms of the sustainment area of both the capital and OM&A areas.


MR. ROGERS:  Without going through the whole presentation, you've told us about Attachment A now.  There is an Attachment B, too.  What does that do that might be different?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  We thought it would be very useful for this Board and for the participants in this proceeding to see the type of information which is developed in our performance-management area and is shared with the planners in our organization who are developing the specific plans which eventually become our business plan, budgets, and our filings in front of this Board.


Included in this information is detailed information on 115 circuit-breakers, 115 -- 230 circuit-breakers, 500 kV circuit-breakers, and then goes and does for transformers the same thing, 115 transformers, 230, and 500.

This is just a sample of the type of detail, and behind this, of course, would be detailed analysis, which is provided from a performance-management group to our system-investment group, which develops the plans which are brought before this Board.


MR. ROGERS:  Would it be useful to just perhaps take us to one of the tables or graphs to explain how one interprets this data?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly.  I think the best example I could take you to, just as an item, if I could take you maybe to Attachment B and take you to the 115 kV breaker performance, and take a look at the 115 kV circuit-breakers.

MR. ROGERS:  Just take a moment here to find this, because these aren't paginated.  It is after -- Attachment B follows page 15.  Okay.  Thank you.  We have that, I think, now.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  So all of these charts have the following information on it.  It has for Hydro One the specific performance with respect to, in this case, frequency of forced outages, and it shows our performance over the period from 2003 through 2007, and also included on this line is Hydro One's five-year average, the all CEA Canadian average, and then the trend.


So what we obviously would be interested in is all of this information:  Where are we specifically with our own breakers?  What is this information telling us about forced outages?  Where is the rest of the community that we benchmark?  Where are they?  If they're better than us, why are they better than us?  What can we learn from them?  What can we bring to bear, in terms of best practices in terms of our system?

And then, very importantly, of course, is the trend line.  What is the trend overall saying, in terms of this area?  Is it improving or getting worse?  To the extent it is improving, how do we keep it improving?  To the extent it is getting worse, what are the necessary investments in the system that need to be done to arrest the deteriorating performance?

In general, that's the information associated with all of this material.


MR. ROGERS:  And I assume that behind all of this there is reams of detailed data and analysis that is done?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, there certainly is.

MR. ROGERS:  And just to confirm again, this information was presented to the stakeholders in the stakeholdering conference which you arrange, was it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it was.

MR. ROGERS:  The first part?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The first part, the first presentation, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Not B, but A?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Over the years in different proceedings, including the '07 and '08 transmission rate filing, certainly even at stakeholder sessions, there was much information presented, in terms of equipment information.  That's all -- information is all readily available on Hydro One's public website, in terms of the material presented at the various stakeholder sessions.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.

Is there anything more that you think would be useful to deal with in this document, or have you summarized it for us?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think I summarized it.  I am open to questions at the appropriate time.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Can we just move along?  Because I wanted to ask you a few questions as well about Undertaking J2.7, which was filed this morning.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  This has to do with minimum levels of spending in the planning process.  The Board may recall this discussion yesterday.


Tell us what this document is, Mr. Van Dusen, would you?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I will.


I first want to assure the Board that, between myself and my fellow panel members, you have people on this panel who are intimately familiar with Hydro One's planning process and all of the documentation associated with it.  And between us I can say that we are responsible for or intimately involved in the authorship of most of the business planning-related process documents that you have in front of us.


In terms of the specific question in terms of what this undertaking talks to, it provides to you a view of Hydro One's risk-based planning process.  Hydro One develops, as indicated in the evidence at A-14-1, has a risk-based prioritization process where we identify different levels of investment, starting at the minimum level of investment and moving to levels 1, 2, and 3.


As you move up the chain of spending, you reduce the residual risk associated with any particular sort of investment.


It needs to be made very clear, though, that the minimum level of investment is of a level of investment that barely keeps you out of what we define as the area of unacceptable risk.  If one was to maintain the minimum level of investment over the five-year planning horizon, one would end up most likely with events which we would consider unacceptable in our risk-based process.

In the attachments, we have shown specifically your request.  For 2009 and 2010, for both OM&A and capital, across the work programs broken down basically in the same sort of overall summary that you've seen in our application, what was the level we filed, what was the minimum level identified very early in the business planning process, and what is the variance between what is filed and the minimum level?


So as an example, if you would look at transmission OM&A for 2009, and look at the very bottom of the page, you will see the number of 57.7.

That indicates that the filed information contains $57.7 million of expenditures which are above the minimum level as designed in our risk-based process.


If I can take you to capital, the next page, page 2 of this attachment, and take a look at the 2009 and 2010 information.  I think it is very important and very illustrative to take a look at the bottom, to take a look at the 2009 variance.


What this information is telling you is that for 2009 Hydro One actually has submitted an application to the Board which is 236.4 million below what we would consider the minimum level for capital expenditures looked at in its entirety.


Hydro One says that this is a situation that could not exist on a long-term basis.  We would need to make these expenditures, make up these expenditures over a reasonable period of time, to avoid the type of risks that we want to avoid, that we in our own planning process say.

In 2010 you can see that the -- there's some makeup of the deficiency that is made, and then later on in the planning process we hope to make up the deficiency.

One of the real considerations, in terms of bringing this level down to where we brought it, was a combination of factors, but the foremost factor, which we will talk about in the next exhibit that we're about to talk to, has to do with customer impact.

When we consider the impact on the customers of the levels of expenditures we're bringing forward, Hydro One's senior management team, and then eventually approved by our board of directors, agreed that although they're not comfortable with the situation, certainly not in an ongoing basis or long-term basis, that this one-year aberration, in terms of what we would like to do, was the best thing to do.
  These considerations are brought to bear with considerations of resources, the type of people, materials that are needed, are brought together with considerations of outages:  Can you get the type of outages that are required to do the work that you are looking to do?  And to take a look at also things like material acquisition as well:  Can we get the materials?


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  I think that summarizes that, and we will let people think about it.


Now, I would like you, please, to look at K3.2, the third document that we filed this morning.  You will see, Members of the Board, that this is a document that has two tables on it, on the front page.

Mr. Van Dusen, you told us about the planning process.  Does this help -- will this help us understand what this proposal went through before it emerged?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  This document will.

MR. ROGERS:  Could you explain this table -- these tables to us, please?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  We felt it would be best to bring some additional information, in terms some of the specific steps that were taken through the planning process, before we arrived at the application which is in front of the Board today.

What we have in this table are showing as the transmission capital for '09 and '10 on the top and transmission OM&A for '09 and '10 on the second part of the table.


What we have listed there as "asset needs Sunnybrook 1, Sunnybrook 2 and asset plan final" are just nomenclature for the various -- for three of the particular points in the process that we were at, and where the dollar values were in some the decisions we had to make.


Although it shows just three distinct steps, I want to assure the Board that there are many more iterations - in fact, many more than Mr. Innis and I would care to remember - in terms of getting to the final answer.

I just wanted to assure the Board that the initial proposal brought forward a draft proposal, which is brought forward by a working team to senior management to consider, was at the much higher level.  If you look at the "asset needs Sunnybrook 1" and go across for sustaining development operations and shared services, we take a look just at transmission capital.  The initial proposal which we put in front of the senior management team was $1.5 billion in capital for 2009.

Through the process, the final plan which we have in front of this Board is for $944 million.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I stop you there, Mr. Van Dusen?  The top line "asset need Sunnybrook 1", I take it Sunnybrook is a place where management meets to discuss these things?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand.  Sunnybrook 2 is another meeting that just happens to be the same location, but a different point in time.  Management gets together to review these proposals; is that how it works?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  Before the Sunnybrook sessions, there are various meetings with senior management team, including our executive committee, which is the president, CEO and all of her direct reports.


I had several meetings with that group to take them through.  The Sunnybrook sessions are the major meetings where we, the working team, have received the direction from the senior management.  They have made the considerations and have directed us to go back and make some changes to the draft plan for their consideration.

What the notes indicate is some of the main considerations, in terms of the direction that we got from senior management, was that although we had developed what we called an asset need, some of the work which we thought was required on the assets, the senior management team took a look at the rate impacts that were associated with those types of asset needs and said that is unreasonable for a customer to have to deal with this type of rate increase.


In addition, there were some issues in terms of outage limitations, resourcing and material that they also considered in terms of a challenge, in terms of achieving all of the work.

We received direction at various points to go back and make revisions to the plan, taking these items into consideration, specific rate mitigation considerations.  In the end, the final consideration which was taken was in terms of the implementation, our proposed implementation, associated with our 2009 application in front of this Board today.

We have suggested a July 1st implementation as opposed to a January 1st implementation, which was specifically a specific rate mitigation implementation decision made by our board of directors with due consideration for the impact on the customer and the users of the electricity.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Those are the questions I have for this panel, Madam Chair, and they're available for cross-examination.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

I believe Energy Probe is first.  Mr. Faye, are you ready?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:

MR. FAYE:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Peter Faye.  I am counsel for Energy Probe.  Most of my questions this morning are probably going to be addressed to the study conducted by Mercer Oliver Wyman on compensation and productivity.

To that end, I have prepared a document brief that just has a little background information.  We may or may not need to refer to it, but the peer group cited in the productivity study, I just went on the Internet and picked up general data for each of those, since it wasn't included in the study.

So that should be before you, and I believe the Panel has a copy of that.

MR. MILLAR:  We have copies here which we will --

MR. ROGERS:  I haven't ever seen it.

MR. FAYE:  Did you not get it by e-mail?  It was filed by e-mail a day in advance, but if we need to break just for a moment to get additional copies, I can do so.  I brought ten hard copies.

MR. MILLAR:  We will call it K3.3, and it's Energy Probe's cross-examination materials.
Exhibit No. K3.3:  Energy Probe's cross-examination materials.

[Energy Probe's materials passed to witnesses]


MR. FAYE:  Is that sufficient copies, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  I think we can make do.  We haven't seen this.  We haven't received this.

MR. FAYE:  There's little of substantive value in it.  It is mostly data of what these utilities consist of that I may have to go to.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.

MR. FAYE:  We will give them a break for a moment, if they like, just to thumb through it, get the general sense of it.

MR. MCDONELL:  I think I am ready to proceed.

MR. ROGERS:  Is your microphone on?

MR. MCDONELL:  Can you hear me?

MR. FAYE:  All right.  The compensation costs and benchmark study is where we're going to sort of focus our examination here.

I'm just looking for an exhibit reference here.  It is Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 2, attachment 1.  I am looking just initially at the executive summary.  That would be page 1.  I just wanted to point out what the context is here.

I think it is summarized nicely at the bottom of page 1.  I will read it into the record:
"Overall, depending upon the employee group, Hydro One is currently between slightly below median of P50 and 21 percent above the market P50.  On an overall weighted average basis for the positions we reviewed, Hydro One is approximately 17 percent above the market P50."

Would you agree that is an accurate statement?

MR. MCDONELL:  That would be accurate, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then moving to the bottom of page 2, there is bold-faced type in the last paragraph:
"All indicators measured ranked better than median, i.e., more productive except one, which is slightly below median, i.e., less productive."

Then jumping to the last sentence:
"Examining the mix of indicators leads to the conclusion that Hydro One requires less workforce compensation to generate various units of output."

Does Hydro One take the position that those statements are an accurate reflection of what the study means?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, they have.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  
I think I would like to move to a little discussion of the productivity indicators or metrics that the study relies on to compare you to your peer group.  I think if you flip to page 25 of the benchmarking study, there's some information there that I will ask you a couple of questions about.

In particular, at the bottom of that page:
"The work output measures are gross fixed asset dollars, megawatt-hours sold, kilometres of line and service territory size."

I think gross fixed asset dollars is a fairly easy one to figure out what that means.  Megawatt-hours sold, can I ask you how that is arrived at?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please. At the bottom of page 25 there, it talks about -- it's a measure of system requirement and activity required on the structure of delivery to deliver energy, so we'd take a look at our total delivered energy.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And this would be everything that flows across your network?  Is that how I'd understand that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that is my understanding as well.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  The other one that maybe is a little -- requires a little bit of explanation is the service territory.  This is measured in, I believe, square kilometres.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  And how do you derive how many square kilometres your service territory is?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe in this case we took a look at the proportion of the transmission system that Hydro One operates in the province and used that as a factor to apply to the size of Ontario.


MR. FAYE:  How much would Hydro One operate on a percentage basis?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Approximately 96 percent of the transmission system is operated by Hydro One.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  Then you would multiply 96 percent then, times the number of square kilometres that Ontario comprises, and come up with the service territory; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, just by way of preliminary question again, if you could turn to page 29, you will find there the peer group that's been assembled by Oliver Wyman to make comparisons to, and I will just read them into the record:  BC Hydro, New Brunswick Power, ENMAX, Hydro-Québec, Manitoba Hydro, and National Grid, which is a U.S. utility.


And what I would like to do is just ask you a few questions about the comparability of these peers.  Starting perhaps with BC Hydro, is there anything about BC Hydro that would differ radically from the structure of Hydro One, that might bias the results in this thing?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please.

Generally speaking, I would say that B.C. and Quebec Hydro are most comparable to Hydro One, in terms of their overall operation.


MR. FAYE:  And that would be in the sense that they have both transmission and distribution and serve a large part of their provincial customers?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  And in terms -- generally speaking, in terms of geography and weather patterns, et cetera, generally speaking, they're the most comparable.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And as far as you know, do they calculate their service territory in the same way that you do, the whole province?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, the service territories in this study would have been calculated the same way, using the definition as provided by the consultant.  So the consultant would have made sure that the definition was applied uniformly.  If it's different, I will confirm that, but I'm -- that's how it was done.


MR. FAYE:  I would refer you then to our little booklet of general information pulled up off the Internet.  Second-to-the-last page on that, it describes the B.C. transmission company.  And in the middle of that page, it says:

"In May 2003 a new Crown company, the British Columbia Transmission Corporation, was incorporated to maintain, operate, and plan B.C.'s hydro transmission assets.  The core transmission assets are still owned by BC Hydro."

And I wonder if those words "maintain, operate, and plan" might comprise most of the costs required to operate that transmission system.  Is that a fair assessment?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am not overly familiar with BCTC's structure, so I would -- it may be a fair assessment.  I can't confirm or deny that, unfortunately.

MR. FAYE:  Well, assuming for the moment that it is a fair assessment, would you agree with me that those costs are not represented in the BC Hydro part of this survey?  Or have they been added to the BC Hydro costs to come up with a total cost?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will confirm at break, but I believe they're in the B.C. costs.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Fine.


And  looking at, again, BC Hydro and Hydro-Québec, the structure of energy delivery and electricity delivery in those provinces, do they have the same level of municipal utility structure that Ontario has?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I don't believe they do.

MR. FAYE:  In fact, I think Hydro-Québec is the sole supplier of most or all residential, commercial, industrial customers in the province.  Would you agree with that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't know that.  I can't answer that question.


MR. FAYE:  But you do know that there are no municipal utilities in Hydro-Québec -- or in Quebec?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do know that.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And looking at New Brunswick Power, would you agree that New Brunswick Power supplies the end-use customer in the entire province?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  You're asking me questions about other systems in other provinces.  I don't know the exact basis of that.


MR. FAYE:  Well, if you could flip -- if you could flip to the New Brunswick Power page on that handout I gave you.  It is page 9.  That would be three or four from the back.

And looking about the middle of the page, under "New Brunswick power distribution and customer service" -- the acronym is DISCO for that:

"DISCO delivers safe, reliable, and reasonably priced energy to more than 370,000 direct and indirect customers."

Et cetera.  And I will ask you if you would conclude from that that they are the sole supplier of electricity to end-use customers in New Brunswick.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to check, yes, I accept that.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So we have at least three of these -- and we can go through the rest of them too -- that are in a provincial electricity structure that doesn't have local distribution companies.


And what I want to ask you is, most of the metrics here compare T&D costs on the basis of things like megawatt-hours delivered.  And it seems to me that, at least in Ontario, a large portion of the megawatt-hours actually delivered are delivered by municipal utilities, and not by Hydro One.  Have I got that wrong, or is that a fair assessment?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I can certainly confirm your understanding of the Hydro One and the Ontario environment.  Once again, subject to check, I will accept that for some of the other provinces as well.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So when we get into the metrics of the study, when you calculate Hydro One's standing among your peers, dollars per megawatt-hour of transmission and distribution costs, that wouldn't include the transmission and distribution costs of LDCs, would it?  It is just your costs?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  I believe, if you take a look at section 4 of the study, on page 8 and 9, it also talks about taking a look at transmission- and distribution-related companies.  It talks about including the whole gambit in the sample study.


MR. FAYE:  We're talking about the Mercer part of it, or...?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, the Mercer part of it.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So on page 8, I see compensation benchmarking peer groups.  And in there, I think you're right, there is reference to 80 local distribution companies.


Do you mean to say that Oliver Wyman and Mercer took all of the costs of distribution companies and added them to your costs before they made the comparisons on a megawatt-hour basis?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Although we surveyed a large number of LDCs and tried to get them to participate, it was only Toronto Hydro that met the scoping criteria, in terms of being included in this part of the study.

MR. FAYE:  When you say "included in this part of the study", they're included as a peer; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  So my question, though, was:  When you included Toronto Hydro, did Oliver Wyman go to Toronto Hydro and ask them what their transmission and distribution costs were, and then add them to your transmission and distribution costs in order to come up with an overall figure for transmission and distribution to get from the generating station to the customer?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I don't believe they did that.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So the costs that you are using to compare on a megawatt-hour basis don't include, I will ask you to agree, a large amount of costs that municipal utilities incur to go the last mile, so to speak?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry.  My confusion is the following.  If you take a look at page 26 of the study and take a look at the four measures, these were the four broad measures that the Oliver Wyman study considered, in terms of looking at productivity, trying to make a link between productivity indicators and compensation.

The numerator is total compensation.  So when you take a look at the denominator, it is fixed assets, megawatt-hours sold, kilometres of line and service territory.  Included in this part of the study, there isn't a total cost.  So you are asking about what costs are added together, and I am getting confused, because there are no costs in this part of the study.

MR. FAYE:  Perhaps I've been a little bit sloppy in my use of the word "costs".  It does appear in your graphical metrics.  It says costs per megawatt-hour.  So I have tried to adopt the same language as in the study, but you are absolutely correct.  The actual thing we're comparing is compensation.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Let me rephrase the question, then.

When you came up with the top, the total compensation on page 26 in the megawatt-hour metrics sold, for instance, when you took that total compensation number, you got that from Hydro One only, correct, for your calculation of your metric?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  For our independent -- how we would fare across all four of these, yes, we took our total compensation costs.

MR. FAYE:  You didn't go to, say, Toronto Hydro and ask how much it costs in total compensation on T&D in their utility to get from where they dropped the power off to you at, say, Warden TS down to the end use customer.  You didn't do that, did you?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry.  I apologize.  I've been a bit slow here.  No, this is total compensation for the whole company for the T&D business.  We took a look at total compensation for Toronto Hydro for their T&D business and for all of these different utilities.  That's what we're looking at.  This isn't total compensation for the transmission business or the distribution business.  This is total compensation.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, good.  For the transmission and distribution business, this particular page?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So let me just put to you a proposition that may clarify this.

In this province there are about 4,500,000 customers.  Will you take that subject to check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Of which Hydro One has 1-1/2 million of them?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  On the distribution side.

MR. FAYE:  Right.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And the municipal utilities have the other 3 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The municipal utilities are the end delivery to those 3 million, and they have T&D expenses to do that, their own T&D expenses?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Some of those expenses are compensation.  Probably a fair proportion of them are compensation expenses?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Possibly.  Correct, yes.

MR. FAYE:  When you calculate a metric of how much it costs per megawatt-hour in compensation, you are ignoring the fact that the municipal utility compensation isn't in there, but the megawatt-hour is the very one that they deliver; is that not correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  I'm not quite sure I understand your assertion.  It doesn't sound correct.

This is a very -- I think I have to step back.  When you take a look at any type of benchmarking, getting comparable types of organizations is difficult.  Then getting common definitions of things is difficult.


And that's one of the reasons why this type of approach was taken, and then there's the -- on the other side, when we take a look at the study on the operational area, it's the same sort of thing.  Let's look at common, easy-to-define, easy-to-gather-information-on type of metrics and see if they tell us a story.  Is there something they tell us that we can learn from and glean from?

So when we take a look at total compensation, it's a straightforward thing.  What is your total compensation for your company in any given year?  What are your gross fixed assets?  We divide the two.


So when you asked me about which megawatt-hour is being delivered by who, I am a little bit confused.  It is just what -- the megawatt-hours that you sell.

So for us, it is:  What are all of the megawatt-hours we sell?  For them, it's the same thing.  It's a simplistic measure, but at the same time it can get to -- potentially get to conclusions that are helpful, which is what we feel they have done in this study.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, let me just rephrase, probably make it a little bit clearer.

In Ontario - and we'll pick Toronto again as an easy example - you deliver to Toronto Hydro to various drop-off points called transformer stations; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  And from the transformer station to the customer's door, Toronto Hydro own those lines, operate, maintain, pay their employees for fixing the lines.

And would you agree that that portion of the distribution cost is in Toronto-Hydro's books; it is not in yours?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Would you agree that the megawatt -- total megawatt-hours that you have in the denominator of this fraction here includes the megawatt-hours that Toronto Hydro delivers to its customers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, let's go to one of the other peers that we've already discussed, and I think we agree that they do deliver to their end use customers.  They don't have municipal utilities.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  So not only do they own the transmission line that gets to the transformer station, but they also own everything on the other side that gets to the customer?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Agreed.

MR. FAYE:  So their T&D expenses would include the compensation related to that last mile of distribution network?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  And that's not included in your costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's not included in our costs for the part of the distribution system we don't own; you're correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So then it seems very sensible that your costs per megawatt-hour would be much lower than another utility that actually had to get to the customer's doorstep, not just drop it off at the transmission station.  Would you agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I don't.  You are trying to make a conclusion, I would pose to you, that is not consistent with the information.

Our transmission system, we would have all of those megawatt-hours included in it.  The 96 percent of the system we serve would have all of those megawatt-hours, and then we would have the megawatt-hours that get given to the three-quarters, I will call it, of the rest of the distribution utility that's not ours.

That's all in.  So that's all of our megawatt-hours.  We're just looking at everyone else's megawatt-hours, and I don't see a double counting or something that's getting left off here.

MR. FAYE:  I'm not saying it is double counting.  Let me try another tack here.

I think we have agreed that all of the megawatt-hours that come across the transmission network actually get delivered to end use customers --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  -- at some point?  And a lot of those megawatt-hours get delivered by municipal utilities in this province, but in other provinces, in your peer group, they don't get delivered by municipal utilities because there are none.  They get delivered by the T&D company, the BC Hydro --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  -- the New Brunswick Power?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  So those companies would have money invested in assets at the distribution level to serve all of the customers in the province?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  And Hydro One has money invested in distribution assets to serve just the million-and-a-half customers that you have?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's right.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So when you look at the costs, your compensation costs to maintain and repair and operate that network of both transmission and distribution - remember the distribution is in here - you don't have the costs to maintain the distribution lines that serve 3 million customers in this province; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, you're asking the question in a funny way.  We have lots of costs in our distribution business that are associated with serving the 80 municipal electric utilities in the province.

MR. FAYE:  What are those costs?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  In our distribution transmission system, we have the costs, our costs.  They're there to serve those LDCs.

MR. FAYE:  And could you just describe what those costs are, in general?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, I mean, in terms of the transmission system, you're looking at the substations which step down the power at a very -- this is a very high explanation -- step down the power that then get transferred to the municipal side.  If you take a look, they go in the station, and they're a Hydro One transmission, and they come out the other end, and they're a distribution LDC.

So we have lots of facilities that are there to serve the local distribution companies.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And those are your transmission facilities.  Those are the lines and stations to get to those municipal utilities.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's right.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And let's take BC Hydro.  They also have those transmission lines and transformer stations --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  -- to get to the end-use customer, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.


MR. FAYE:  And then they have an additional component, don't they?  They have a section from the transmission station, transformer station, down to the customer level that you don't have --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  -- for the 3 million customers served by municipals here; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MR. FAYE:  And they have compensation costs to maintain that part of the system that you don't have; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So then when you take BC Hydro's compensation costs as the top of this fraction, and divide it by megawatt-hours sold, you get the overall cost per megawatt-hour to get from the generating end right to the customer's doorstep, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  And when you do that for Hydro One, you get two different sorts of things.  One is, you get the generating -- from the generating station to the customer's doorstep for the million-and-a-half customers that you serve directly.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  And then you have this other big part, where you only have the costs from the generating station to the high-voltage transformer station at the municipal utility boundary.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  What you're missing is that distribution component that the municipal utilities pay their employees, that compensation, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Okay.  Yes.  I see that.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And can you see that there might be something wrong with comparing between those two examples, that maybe the system is biased in your favour here a little bit, because you don't have to account for the costs to serve 3 million customers?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  One second.


[Witness panel confers]


 MR. VAN DUSEN:  Okay.  I apologize.  Obviously I have been a little bit more problematic than I needed to be.  So I'm agreeing with your general proposition that there are certain costs that would not necessarily have been in our compensation because we didn't go to the end.


So once again I will take you back to the, what we ask Oliver Wyman to do and what we ask the benchmarking group to do as part of their expertise is to give us as much normalization as possible, as much scrutiny of the peer group and their setups, to bring some useful information forward to the Board.


There are obvious differences, in terms of the setup and the jurisdictions and the regulations and the delivery of electricity across all of these that you've correctly pointed out, and I take your point.


It's a matter of trying to normalize across a series of different types of denominators, so more than -- more -- the more normalization you can do using the four types of normalization indicators, the fixed assets, megawatt-hours sold, kilometre line, service territory, when you normalize across a wide variety of items, you are trying to bring it down to something which you hope is comparable.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, I think you have agreed with the sort of problem that I have pointed out in this study.  And if you have agreed with that, I don't need to belabour this any further, and we can move on and quickly finish this cross-examination.


Can we just have a look at page 31 for a moment.  I might have already covered this, so -- we'll get you to flip through it, though.  Yes, I have covered that.

Could you go to page 34.  This is just a question about how the data is presented here, not the merit of the data.  I see on this chart here on page 34 seven participants.  And my rudimentary understanding of statistics, I thought that the middle value was the median.  So of the seven, that would be number 4.  There would be three lower and three higher.

Do I have the right understanding of "median" here?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So in this case, it looks like Hydro One is the median, at 3,599.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  3,599 is the median.  And if we flip back to the graphical presentation on page 31, why do I see that the Xs are not on the median line, if that is the median?  This happens in a lot of these little charts here.

This one is compensation per gross asset.  And that's the second sort of graph in that box on page 31.  I take it the X here is your positioning relative to the peers; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And the line is the median value?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, sorry.  Yes, X is the Hydro One and the median value is the line.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, if, on page 34, Hydro One is the median, why aren't you right on the line on this graph?  Why are you more productive than the median?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please.


Offhand I can't say exactly why it wouldn't be on the line.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So you would agree that it should be on the line, that if you're the middle of the pack, you're the median value.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So then the conclusion that you are more productive than median on that measure is incorrect.  You are median.  Is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Based on the definition of "median" being the one in the middle of the group, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Good.  Can I then ask you to go to page 36.  And this is the other category covered in the productivity study.  It is customer service.  And on all of these metrics you look terrific.  But I wonder if they're entirely accurate in the representation.

And if we start at the far left there, cost per megawatt-hour, once again, we will talk about the 3 million customers that you don't provide customer service to.  You would agree that the local utilities in Ontario provide that customer-service function?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MR. FAYE:  And so when you measure against a megawatt-hour that's ultimately delivered by a utility, a municipal utility, you've left out a lot of customer-service costs.  Would you agree with that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, in terms of the customer-service costs that would be embedded in the distribution part -- our distribution part of the business?


MR. FAYE:  Yes.  And by way of comparison with other peers that actually have those costs, because they do deliver to the end customer and have to service them.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The total compensation that we have would involve the compensation across both our T&D business, and therefore would have our customer-service costs included --

MR. FAYE:  Yes, it has it in for the million-and-a-half customers that you serve, right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's right.

MR. FAYE:  But going back to our other argument or our discussion a few moments ago, it doesn't have it in for the 3 million customers that others serve.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It doesn't have their costs in.  We do have a customer-service group associated with our transmission business.  That's in the asset management organization, and the evidence is presided here about their costs and their activities.


But I take your point.  I understand the point you make.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the comparators like BC Hydro, New Brunswick Power, they do have customer-service costs for all of the customers in the province, because they don't have municipal utilities.  Do you agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will agree with that, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So then when we show on this graph that Hydro One is the -- by far the most productive, it's quite understandable.  Most of the costs aren't borne by Hydro One, so when they're compared to the megawatts hours ultimately delivered by others, you certainly do look good.  But that's not -- that's not a true picture, is it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I would agree with you that we don't have the costs for that -- of the customer service costs associated with those that we don't serve in there, so that's as far as I am going to go with you on that one.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well maybe, we should take another example here without, you know, belabouring the point, costs -- customer costs for territory size.  At first glance, this looks quite reasonable, but if most of the territory doesn't have any customers in it, then your costs are obviously going to be quite a bit lower than for BC Hydro or Hydro-Québec, where their entire territory has their customers in it.


In fact, 3 million of the customers in the territory aren't really your customers at all, so you don't have any customer service costs there; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, I thought we were talking about the costs per territory size.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Let me back up.  When I first started this discussion with you, I asked you how you measured your territory size.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  And I think you came up with a number of 94 or 96 percent of the total land mass of the province.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So that sounds like it includes territory that holds municipal utilities.  Am I right or wrong on that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  You are correct, but our transmission business services those LDCs.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  I don't think that is in dispute.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  But their customer service costs associated with the territory held and serviced by municipal utilities are not your costs.  They're municipal utility costs, aren't they?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  So this is a little misleading here.  This cost per territory size is not really valid if you are measuring municipal utility territory in which you bear no customer service costs over and above the transmission servicing costs that you have mentioned.  Will you agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't agree it is misleading.  I agree with you in terms of your points in terms of taking a look at some of the potential issues, in terms of the information.  But in terms of the presentation, this is the result based on the metrics and the approach used by Oliver Wyman in terms of looking at the productivity.  This was their methodology.


We didn't see anything particularly wrong with their methodology and their attempt to normalize the results.  So, the information shows what it does.

In terms of -- in terms of difficulties with benchmarking, there are always going to be benchmarking difficulties and comparability difficulties with any benchmarking information.  It is one of the pieces of information which is brought to bear in front of this Board, in front of our management, as well, in terms of helping to make decisions.

MR. FAYE:  Well, if you owned this company, would you make decisions based on these metrics?  Are these meaningful metrics when they're so flawed?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  With all due respect, I think Hydro One is a leader in trying to take a look at productivity information.  So might there be some difficulties?  Yes, but Hydro One has filed, in this proceeding and in other proceedings, a tremendous amount of information about what we've measured, how we measure it, how we are keenly focussed on productivity, and productivity is a key part of our focus.

The other study that takes a look at -- the PA Consulting Group study that takes a look at that said it is very difficult to find utilities that have unique productivity measures, and it is because of that that you can't take a look at one individual measure and necessarily make a conclusion.

You look at a balanced score card approach, and that is Hydro One's view.

So we take this study and these results as one piece of the puzzle which we bring to bear in taking a look at our overall productivity.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, and forgive me if I conveyed a sentiment I didn't mean to convey.  I do appreciate the fact this is an extremely difficult exercise, and your first quartile consulting did point out that nobody has been able to do this.

My concern is that the conclusion you've drawn on the basis of this study is that you are better than the median in your peer group and that justifies a higher compensation level for your employees.

My point is, if you are not better than your peer group because this study is flawed, you can't make the conclusion that your compensation levels are justifiable.

Would you agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please.  Sorry, one second, please.

Can I take you to the bottom of page 2, the executive summary of the Oliver Wyman study?

MR. FAYE:  I have it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think it is important to take a look at what the study is telling us that we took heart in.

The words are, and I'll quote:
"Examining the mix of indicators leads to the conclusion that Hydro One requires less workforce compensation to generate various units of output."

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I see that.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The conclusion doesn't say:  And, therefore, we should pay our people more, necessarily.


It talks about:

"...leads to the conclusion Hydro One requires less workforce compensation to generate various forms of output."

So it is a form of a productivity measure that we are taking some heart in, in terms of -- and that's what the Board wanted to see:  How does compensation and productivity link together?  This was our attempt to get at that question.

And this was one of the conclusions reached, based on the information, and I do respect that you have some questions and concerns about, you know, some of the aspects of the study.  But the overall conclusion, it talks about workforce compensation and units of output.

I think you are now leaping to another conclusion which isn't -- isn't a direct correlation, necessarily.  This is -- once again, I reiterate this is one piece of the puzzle.

MR. FAYE:  And I agree with you it is one piece of the puzzle.  I guess my concern is that it is an erroneous piece of the puzzle.  It isn't accurate.  These metrics do not show that you are better than median, because you have left out a whole lot of costs that others had to bear.

Can I turn you to Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 1, page 12?  I will repeat that, A-16-1, page 12.

And at line 8, I will read this to you:
"As stated by Mercer Oliver Wyman in their study report, examining the mix of productivity indicators leads to the conclusion that Hydro One requires less workforce compensation to generate various units of output."

I believe that's the statement that you have just quoted to me; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  Then going on:
"Therefore the positive Hydro One productivity results balance Hydro One's total compensation, be it above the market median.  The benchmarking study results provide further support for Hydro One's position that its continued productivity accomplishments offset its relative compensation levels."

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  That is not supported by the study, is it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  With all due respect, you've pointed out some concerns, and I have had some discussion with you in terms of our view of the concerns.  And I am not too sure you can necessarily draw that conclusion.

But, once again, we're talking about further support here.  I'm sure Mr. McDonell can talk about the other types of items we take a look at in terms of our workforce and the skill of our workforce and the type of work that our workforce does vis-à-vis other workers in other companies, and the type of productivity we get from having a combined transmission and distribution workforce, and the type of productivity we get from the type of work crews we put together and how we assign the work crews to the various pieces of work.

Once again, I am taking faith in that it is further support.  You are now questioning whether the Xs are actually drawn appropriately.

I take some of your points.  I will have to go back and take a look at the details of the study.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, good.  I think that's all I was driving at is that we really can't put a lot of weight on this study.  It was a good attempt, but it has some serious problems with it, and the conclusion that the company is drawing that it is a rationale for higher compensation costs maybe has to be looked at with some skepticism at this point.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I won't agree that it has to be looked upon with some skepticism, but I agree it is only one piece of the puzzle that needs to be considered.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  No need to debate it.  We can address it in argument.

Can I finally ask you to look up Energy Probe's Interrogatory 18.  This would be Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 18.  And I have just a couple of fairly straightforward questions here.


MR. MCDONELL:  Schedule 18?


MR. FAYE:  Yes, I-8-18.


MR. MCDONELL:  We have it.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  One of the questions that we asked you had to do with the apprenticeship period for regional lines maintainer, and you have responded that your regional lines maintainer is a four-year power line technician apprenticeship, augmented with another two years of training.


And then we asked you, are all of your regional line maintainers equally competent to work on transmission and distribution, and the B part of your answer is that approximately 45 percent of your regional maintainers are equally proficient.


Now, given that your regional line maintainer is one of your higher-priced wage categories, what we were getting at is, if there are genuine additional qualifications required, then we could agree that they should be paid more.  But it seems that 55 percent of them are no different than any other distribution maintainer.  And I wonder if you would comment on that.


MR. MCDONELL:  I think I could assist you there.  You have to keep in mind that we have one classification, regional maintainer lines.  And those maintainers, no matter where they are in the province, they can go to various parts of the province.


For instance, we have a travelling line crew, where crews work on both the transmission and distribution system in our northern zones as well.  So at any time a person could be sent, due to workload needs, to work in an area where they will be responsible for both TX and DX, and they will receive the extra little bit of training that will be required.

So the expectation is that they would be able -- all of our regional maintainers at some point could have to work on both TX and DX.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I take that.  But it seems that this response says that 55 percent of them don't work on transmission lines.


MR. MCDONELL:  And I think the question was answered, taking a snapshot in time.  If we take a look at all our provincial workforce, 45 percent of our maintainers work both on TX and DX.  But the other staff that currently aren't could very well be expected to work both on TX and DX.


MR. FAYE:  But it does take two years of additional training, I think -- it doesn't?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, no, I would not agree with that.  The two extra years is in addition to the apprenticeship program that all our regional maintainers go through so that they can get additional skills that are beyond the journeymen of the power line technician.

So all our regional maintainers incur that extra two years.  That two years is not just to train somebody for both TX and DX.

MR. FAYE:  Let me ask you then, if they all get six years' training -- and I understood that that extra two years -- maybe I've made an assumption there -- that extra two years was transmission training.

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I can help you here.  The extra two years, our maintainers are going to get additional training in things like lead hand skills or work protection.  They're also going to get some technical training that's beyond the power line technician job.  For instance, they could do line layouts.  They can do PCB management, as well as they can do some minor forestry work.  So that's the extra skill set that we're paying in above of the power line maintainer classification.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I did -- I'm glad I asked this question, because I had misunderstood your response here.  So you don't pay anything extra for somebody to do 500 kV work than you do to pay a lineman in northern Ontario to do 8 kV work?


MR. MCDONELL:  No, we do not.

MR. FAYE:  It is exactly the same.  There is no bonus, there is no additional compensation for that.


Why, if you have a sense, why would anyone take on 500 kV work if they could make the same money doing 8 kV work?


MR. MCDONELL:  Could be personal preference.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think that does it.  Thank you very much, panel.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

We will take our morning break now and resume in 20 minutes.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:10 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:40 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Warren, I had you put down to the end of the list, because I understood you had a conflict this morning.  Is it your intention you would still like to be at the end or would you like to go now, since you are here?

MR. WARREN:  (Inaudible)

MS. CHAPLIN:  We would like to have every comment of yours recorded, so repeat that, please.

MR. WARREN:  What if I don't want them recorded?  No, Madam Chair, the popular will is that I drop like a stone to the bottom.  I will stay there.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Aiken, I believe you are next on my list.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Panel, my name is Randy Aiken.  I am the consultant to BOMA and LPMA in this proceeding.

I am going to have a number of questions of a clarifying type, and they're going to be spread over a number of topics.

The first set of questions have to do with the cost of capital, and specifically with the response to Board Staff Interrogatories Nos. 3, 4 and 5.  So that's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedules 3, 4 and 5.

The first question is on schedule 3 -- or, sorry, interrogatory 3, part B, the response there.  In that response, Hydro One states near the bottom of the answer:
"Specifically for 2009, the Board would determine the ROE for Hydro One Transmission based on the March 2009 consensus forecast and Bank of Canada data which would be available in April of 2009."

The response then goes on to indicate that the 2010 ROE would be based upon the September 2009 consensus forecast and Bank of Canada data which would be available in October 2009.

Now, could you please confirm that the reference to Bank of Canada data which would be available in April 2009 means Bank of Canada data which would be available in April for the month of March?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then the same thing, Bank of Canada data available in October would be for the month of September?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

The response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 5 deals with the determination of the long-term debt for deemed debt purposes.

Can you please confirm that the response, which is similar to the one I just read into the record, means that the March data would be available in April and the September data that would be available in October?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, in part A of that response at the top of page 2, it indicates that the data for the long-term corporate bond yield is no longer available from the Bank of Canada.

The Board now obtains this information through a subscription service that precludes publishing of this data.  So can you confirm that Hydro One is requesting that the Board determine the long-term debt rate based on the March and September data and provide that information to Hydro One and intervenors when it is available?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I believe that's the case.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Turning to the short-term debt rate, which is in Board Staff Interrogatory No. 4, this indicates that information from the consensus forecast and Bank of Canada data would be used to determine the short-term rate.

Can you please confirm that the short-term debt rate is actually determined as the three-month banker's acceptance rate as published on the Bank of Canada's website, plus the fixed rate of 25 basis points?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  That's what we refer to in part A of the response.

MR. AIKEN:  So then can you also confirm then that there is no need for the information from the consensus forecast to set the short-term debt rate?

MR. INNIS:  That would appear to be the case, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.

In Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 2 - that's B2, tab 1, schedule 2 - I believe updated for the 2008 actuals, that exhibit shows that the treasury OM&A costs have ranged from 1.3 to $1.5 million over the 2005 through 2008 period, and the forecast is 1.9 million for 2009 and 2 million for 2010.

Can you please indicate what is driving the increase in costs in 2009?

MR. INNIS:  Just give us a moment, please, to turn to those exhibits.

These costs relate to the treasury administration fees that are supporting our bond issues, and that would be an apportionment of those costs to the transmission business.

The reason for the increase are general increases due to escalation of wages, because these are primarily wage costs.  There is also general administrative support for our treasury function, as well.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  My next set of questions deal with the economic indicators which are found at Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.

The data provided in tables 1 and 2 are from a Global Insight forecast that I believe is from December of 2007; is that correct?

MR. INNIS:  If you just give me a moment, please.  Are you in Exhibit A-14-1?

MR. AIKEN:  A-14-2.

MR. INNIS:  Two, thank you.

Your question again, please?

MR. AIKEN:  These forecasts are from Global Insight and are December 2007 forecasts; is that correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  At the top of page 2 of that exhibit, we reference the December 2007 forecast.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct, therefore, in my assumption that the inflation rates shown for the transmission cost escalation for construction for operations and maintenance and for the Ontario consumer price index in table 2, in the historic -- what's labelled in those columns historic 2007, those are actually estimates rather than actual figures for 2007?

MR. INNIS:  Are you referring specifically to the 1.9 percent, or which year are you referring to, please?

MR. AIKEN:  I am referring to the 1.9 percent shown in table 2 under the 2007 column, as well as the 6.7 and 3.2 figures in the 2007 column in table 1.

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  For 2007, they would have been estimates for 2007.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Does Hydro One have more recent forecasts, such as December of 2008, from Global Insight for the information provided in tables 1 and 2 that would include actual figures for 2007?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  I believe that information would be available.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to provide an updated table 1 and table 2 to reflect the 2007 actuals, as well as forecasts for 2008, 2009 and 2010?

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. But on panel 4 I think will be able to answer those questions and provide that information, if it can wait until then, rather than a formal undertaking.

MR. AIKEN:  That's fine, as long as I can put on the record.  I won't be here for panel 4, so that's fine.

MR. ROGERS:  I will ask him.  Is there anything else you would like me to ask him?

MR. AIKEN:  I will get back to you on that.

This next question may have the same response, so I may take you up on your offer.  If you move to table 4 in the same exhibit, this is the forecast yield on the 2008 through 2010 issuance terms.

Am I correct that this information has been used to forecast the debt costs for third party debt that is forecast to be issued in 2009 and 2010?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And these forecasts are based on the April 2008 consensus forecasts and March 2008 average spreads for the Hydro One spread; is that correct, as well?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, if I add up the debt that is forecast to be issued in 2009 and 2010, I believe the total is about $1.5 billion.  This is from Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 2, page 6.

And am I correct that this represents about 35 percent of the total long-term debt outstanding at the end of 2010?


MR. INNIS:  Off the top of my head, I can't confirm that.  I would take that, subject to check.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, given that the Board will be setting the return on equity, the deemed long-term debt rate, and the short-term debt rate based on information that is available three months in advance of your rate changes for 2009/2010 -- in other words, the March and September time frame we were talking about earlier -- do you believe that these forecasts for this third-party debt should be updated to reflect the information available at the same time?


MR. INNIS:  We're not expecting to update our interest rates in this revenue-requirement calculation.  However, we certainly would be expected to update our ROE calculation per the Board's direction.  But the cost of borrowing is not something that we are anticipating updating.


If we did update these numbers, our current information indicates that interest rates would indeed be higher than what they are in these tables, due to the increase in spreads.

So any update to our interest rates would actually increase our revenue requirement, but we're not planning to do that.

MR. AIKEN:  That was going to be my next question for Mr. Rogers to reply to.  Could you provide -- or undertake to provide what those numbers would be, if they were going to be updated, based on the current information available.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  We will undertake to do that, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Let's have a number, if we could, so I don't forget it.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Undertaking J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO PROVIDE 2009 AND 2010 FORECAST YIELD SHOWN IN TABLE 4 OF EXHIBIT B1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1, AND WHETHER IT WILL BE UPDATED BASED ON CURRENT INFORMATION AVAILABLE.

MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Aiken, what were the numbers you wanted updated?


MR. AIKEN:  The 2009 and 2010 forecast yield shown in table 4 of Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 1.


MR. INNIS:  Could I clarify that, please, as well?  Are you asking for an update to our revenue-requirement calculation as a result of that?


MR. AIKEN:  No.  Just the yield.

MR. INNIS:  The actual interest rates themselves?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. INNIS:  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  With no dollars associated with it, Mr. Aiken?  With no dollars?  The impact dollars on the revenue requirement?


MR. AIKEN:  If you would like to add that to the undertaking, I would be happy to accept it.

MR. VLAHOS:  I am wondering, what are you going to do with the rate itself, to the extent you can -- you know, if you want to make an argument, or you or somebody else, that it should be adjusted one way or another.  I just wondered whether it will help to have the dollars.

MR. AIKEN:  We can add that.  I believe I do have an interrogatory response that indicates the revenue-requirement impact of a ten-basis-point change in interest rates.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  That's fine.  And maybe someone can clarify for me.  On table 4, this is the company's forecast.  Am I correct, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But table 1, is that also the company's forecast?  Or is that the Global Insight's forecast?


MR. ROGERS:  Table 1 is Global Insight's, I am instructed.  Table 4 is a composite of various sources of information, based on market data.


MR. VLAHOS:  I see.  So it is a mathematical -- it comes out from a formula?  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  Not exactly.  It's a combination of data from various sources, which are taken together to get the yield.  I don't know whether it's an average or not.  It's added, I think.


Mr. Cowan, who will be on panel 4, can answer these questions more fully for you, sir, if you can wait until then.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  I just wonder how much judgment will go into redoing this table, in terms of the numbers that will be posted.  But that's fine.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I will ask Mr. Cowan to address that when he is in the witness stand, if I could do that.


MR. AIKEN:  I'm now moving on to the export revenues, specifically the response to VECC Interrogatory No. 66, which is Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 66, and the response to Part A; that's Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 66.  Part A shows the transmission revenues up to the end of September of 2008.


Two questions.  First, can you tell me what the actual revenues were for all of 2008?

MR. INNIS:  Just a minute.  I will turn to the interrogatory.  Mr. Cowan on panel 4 perhaps would be better able to answer that question, but if it's straightforward I could help you out here.  It's I-66?


MR. AIKEN:  I-6-66, yes.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, your question, please?


MR. AIKEN:  What is the actual amount of total revenues for 2008?


MR. INNIS:  I don't have that information with me.  Mr. Cowan could be prepared to provide that on panel 4.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  If I could instruct the witness not to volunteer his colleagues without my advice.  But we will make an undertaking to provide that information.

MR. AIKEN:  I should note that I used to work for Mr. Cowan many years ago at Union Gas, so I am familiar with his passing of the buck.  [Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  We will give that undertaking J3.2.  Mr. Aiken, could you repeat what the undertaking is, or Mr. Rogers?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  To provide the actual 2008 export transmission revenues shown in response to VECC IR number 66.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL 2008 EXPORT TRANSMISSION REVENUES SHOWN IN RESPONSE TO VECC IR NO. 66.

MR. AIKEN:  Moving from export revenues to external revenues.  This is Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 2.  And I believe that there is a February update for that.  And in fact, that's my first question.

Is the 46 million shown for the 2008 bridge revenues -- that's an actual number for 2008; is that correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, on the same exhibit, at the bottom of the previous page, page 1, the evidence states that the associated costs for the work that generate the external revenues is described in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 11.  And when I go to that schedule, I have three questions on it.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  The first is that it shows the costs associated with station maintenance and with engineering and construction.  And these are two of the categories included in the external revenue table.


 MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  My question is, where are the costs associated with revenues generated from other external work and secondary land use?


MR. INNIS:  With respect to the cost of secondary land use, there are minor administrative costs associated with that, and they would be part of the real-estate services group.  However, the costs are not significant, as this is mostly rental income from properties that we have.


MR. AIKEN:  And I would assume that the costs for the other external work would not be significant either?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I can address that.  The costs of the other -- the other external revenue has to do with predominantly the Inergi royalties and a few other miscellaneous revenues, and those costs are embedded throughout the organization.

Certainly the Inergi royalties, one could, I guess, assume the costs are associated with the Inergi contract.  And for the other miscellaneous revenues, because they're so small, they're just embedded in the other parts of the organization.

MR. AIKEN:  Are the costs shown in table 1 -- the 4.1 million shown for 2009, for example, is that cost included in the total transmission OM&A budget of $435 million and change that's shown in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, I may have missed this as part of your update, but have you updated the costs shown in table 1 to reflect actual 2008 figures?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you just tell me where in the evidence and what those numbers are?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So you are talking the cost of the external work?  We did file a blue page update with the 2008 actuals.  So I could read them to you, if you wish them.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Mr. Thompson has been very helpful.  I am assuming that is the 11 and 9.5 for a total of 20.5 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.

I am now moving on to everybody's favourite, income taxes.  I have some specific questions there related to the capital cost allowance in this calculation.

And this may take you a few minutes to find, but it is Exhibit C2, tab 6, attachment 1, and specifically within that evidence, it is schedule 8, which is a CCA schedule.

I can tell you where it is on the electronic version.  It is page 73 of 86.  This is the CCA calculation for 2007.


And my first question on this is, if you look at the first page down near the bottom --

MR. INNIS:  Excuse me, which exhibit?  Is it schedule 8 we are looking for?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, schedule 8, within that attachment 1.

MR. INNIS:  Okay.  Just bear with me, please.

MR. AIKEN:  It's about ten to 12 pages from the back of that attachment.

MR. INNIS:  That's helpful.

Yes, I have that.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  On the first page of that schedule 8, down near the bottom, in column 4 there's a number of approximately a reduction of 30 million for a net adjustment, and that refers to the schedule on the second page of the CCA calculation schedule.  And in that page there's a $30 million net adjustment reduction in class 47.

Can you explain to me what this net adjustment is related to?

MR. INNIS:  No, I can't explain that off the top of my head right now.  I would have to look at that further.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to provide a response as to what that $30 million adjustment is related to?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes, we will.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.3.  Can you repeat the undertaking, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  To explain the net adjustment of the $30 million reduction in class 47 in the 2007 CCA calculation.
Undertaking No. J3.3:  To explain the net adjustment of the $30 million reduction in class 47 in the 2007 CCA calculation and to explain why there is no net adjustment in the calculation.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  If you turn now to attachment 2 to C2, tab 6, schedule 1, this is the CCA calculation for the two test years.

That's C2, tab 6, schedule 1, attachment 2.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have it.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, on this schedule there is no column labelled net adjustments.  And maybe this is the second part of the undertaking, is to explain why there is no net adjustments, either positive or negative, in this calculation.

MR. ROGERS:  Might I suggest we make that part of the Undertaking J3.3?

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.

Finally, are you aware that the additions to class 50, which are computer equipment and system software, that those additions are now eligible for 100 percent CCA rate with no half rule adjustment for assets acquired after January 27th of this year, as part of the recent federal budget?

MR. INNIS:  I believe that is the case, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

Mr. Thompson, I believe you are next.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, I would like to start, if I might, with coming back to some of the documents you produced this morning and discuss them in the context of the budget process.  And I understand you folks are familiar with the budget process; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, the previous panel indicated that this is a rigorous process.  Do you agree?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is it rigorous from the outset and throughout?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the evidence - I think it is in A, tab 14, or wherever the planning document appears - indicates that the process begins -- for 2009 would begin sometime around January of 2008; have I got that straight?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now -- and eventually, we heard the other day, it led to a presentation of the board of directors in August of 2008?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then that was followed by a budget that was presented to the board of directors in November of 2008, and that was the subject of the confidential documents discussion this morning?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, I just want to put in context, in terms of the process, when information of the type contained in Exhibit J2.7 is available.

This is what you've characterized as a minimum level of OM&A expenditure and minimum level of capital compared to the as-filed position?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is this document that is something -- well, was this in existence at the beginning of the process in January of 2008?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Virtually at the beginning of the process.  It is generated between the time frames, roughly speaking, of December 2007 through February 2008.  It's through that time period that the various levels associated with the various investments are generated as part of the process.

MR. THOMPSON:  And it's apparently based on some Hydro One determination of a minimum level of risk; am I correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just to get a handle on Hydro One's attitude towards risk, we had a discussion this morning from Mr. Rogers about the two categories of expenditure.  One was the category 3 type of expenditures where nothing was going to be put into service in the test period.  Were you here to hear that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have read the transcript.  I am familiar with the testimony.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then there is another category of expenditure related to pre-engineering associated with projects that will take place outside of the test period.  Did you hear the discussion about that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  I heard that discussion, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  The question that was put to the company, and Mr. Rogers answered it, is what the company was asking for with respect to those types of expenditures.

Did you hear his response?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, and I believe he also dealt with that this morning in terms of his introductory remarks, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  I would characterize that as sort of the, we're not asking for a green light, but we're asking for a yellow light with respect to these expenditures that are going to take place outside of the test period.

Is that a fair characterization? 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think I would prefer to go back and read verbatim Mr. Rogers' comments from this morning.  Obviously, if there is something that is happening through the period 9 and 10, and the evidence is in front of this Board but it goes into service beyond that period, if the Board or others had severe reservations or concerns or issues, we would like to hear about them at this proceeding.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, the way I characterize the response -- and I will put this to you -- is the company is not prepared to take the risk of making these expenditures without having some preliminary indication from the Board that they're going to be okay.

Is that a fair characterization of the company's attitude? 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think perhaps Mr. Innis can add, but we have applied for a deferral account for these costs.  We feel that is the appropriate treatment for the costs of this nature, and it's in front of the Board as to whether they think the deferral account is a valid approach in this regard. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, deferral accounts are evidence of a risk-averse attitude, I would suggest.  And what I'm leading to is a suggestion that Hydro One is, by nature, risk-averse.  Would you agree? 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I wouldn't necessarily agree with that statement. 


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, the minimum level of risk that you've described in this undertaking, what are the risks that Hydro One is assuming that fall below the minimum? 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  I can help you with that. 


The risk-based process run at Hydro One is an extremely rigorous process.  It is a process which is common to asset-management organizations across the world, not just in Canada. 


There's many examples of risk-based processes being used.  The one that comes -- two that come to mind right now that would be illustrative is, the British Columbia -- BCTC filed about a year ago a detailed ten-year capital application with a detailed discussion of their risk-based process, which is very similar to our risk-based process.

In addition, there is information coming out of the U.K. in terms of developing asset-management standards which talk about the need for risk-based processes and asset-management companies. 


So just some context before I go directly to the response to the question, that a risk-based approach is a commonly used hallmark of asset-management organizations.

Now, to go to -- specifically to answer your question, sir, if I could take you to Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 5, and table 1, which talks about Hydro One's business values.  So that's A-14-5. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, what page? 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's page 4 of 9, and it's table 1. 


MR. THOMPSON:  So A, tab 14, schedule 5.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Page 4.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I have it, thank you. 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Table 1.  So specifically you've asked me, how do we define "minimum".  And we define "minimum" in our risk-based process across all of these business values. 


So our risk-based process is multi-dimensional across the things that are important to Hydro One, things that we think we have to be good at to reach our strategic objectives. 


So for each one of these items, the company goes through a very detailed process of defining what is our risk tolerance to these items.  And it defines a series of risk events that could happen.

And some of these are very minor events, and some of these are very extreme events, and we say to those extreme events, we don't want those to happen.  We are going to make appropriate investments to move us out of the zone where there's a probability, a reasonable probability, over the business planning horizon that that would occur. 


So for each one of these items we define this list, extreme, minor, and we say, we certainly don't want to be in the extreme area, so what investments do we need to make to make sure we don't get in there?  The way to characterize the minimum level in most of these -- and this is a bit of a colloquial expression, but then I will go on to define it -- is, it really is to make sure that we meet all the required regulations.  You have to meet the basic regulations.

So in safety and environment there are many standards, standard-setting boards, that impact Hydro One in terms of the regulations around health and safety.  And we say we have to meet -- at the very minimum, we have to meet those standards.

With respect to financial, you have to be able to borrow money.  If we allow ourselves to get to a point where we can't borrow money, we can't do the investments.

With respect to reputation, if we take actions as a company that results in the firing or dismissal of our senior management team because of a reputation-related issue, that's something we don't want to happen.


So on and so forth down each one of these.  So we go through a very detailed process.  It is involved right up to the board of directors.  And we say, what is our risk tolerance associated with these items, we define those risk tolerances, and then part of my job in the planning process is to take the corporate-level tolerances and turn that into an investment planning framework that we then can use as a risk-based process.

So eventually it gets down to the point that for every investment -- I will call it investment driver, every line of major investment -- breakers, investment in breakers -- we take a look in that area across all these dimensions:  What do we need to do to move us away from here?  But you don't want to move down to actually minor impact, because then you run into affordability issues, resourcing issues, and other issues, and we decide on a place which is somewhere in between. 


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sure glad I pushed that button.

Well, let's try and come back to hard reality.  Again, let's take category 3, expenditures.  Was the company prepared to take the risk of incurring those expenditures in the test year, without the yellow-light proposal before the Board?  I take it the answer is "no", because you've come to the Board seeking some sort of preliminary response to that, those expenditures.

So you were prepared to take that risk. Is that fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  That's our application.  We felt it was more appropriate to come forward with an application for a deferral account. 


I think what you have to keep in mind is that there's a very good chance that these type of expenditures will become quite large over the next several years. 


MR. THOMPSON:  The same thing with the pre-engineering for IPSP.  You weren't prepared to take the risk of saying, We're going to make those expenditures in the test year, confident that when we come to the Board asking for approval of them we'll get them.


You want some yellow-light approval before you make those expenditures; is that right? 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then let's move then to the exhibit that started this debate, which is J2.7.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, I'm going to just interrupt you for one moment, Mr. Thompson, just to ensure the record is clear.

I believe, Mr. Van Dusen, you -- Mr. Thompson asked you about the category 3 expenditures.  I don't think those ones are subject to a deferral account, so I just want to know whether or not -- it's the pre-engineering IPSP that are the deferral account, and I think --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  You're absolutely correct, I'm sorry.  I apologize.  You're absolutely correct --

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I don't know if you want to re-ask the question, or if you remember the question, Mr. Van Dusen, if you could respond. 


MR. THOMPSON:  I thought the witness appreciated the distinction.  The category 3, you're seeking yellow-light without deferral account.  And in the pre-engineering, the way you want the yellow-light is with a deferral account, with the amounts to be cleared later, and that's --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do understand the distinction, and I do agree that there is no deferral account for the category 3, and it's just the pre-engineering for -- the pre-IPSP engineering that there is a deferral account requested --

MR. VLAHOS:  And the pre-engineering is O&M cost, isn't it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. VLAHOS:  So isn't there a distinction then, in terms of a rate-making treatment, between a capital expenditure and O&M?  If you didn't have a deferral account, could you come back and capture those expenses? 


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I agree.  I think what was being put to me was really a question around our risk tolerance, Hydro One's company's ability to risk.

So we're willing to proceed on all sorts of capital cash flows that don't come into service in the test period and in front of you, in terms of 9 and 10, but we're very confident that they're reasonable expenditures and are meeting the government's objectives and our own objectives and the customers' objectives, in terms of what we're doing, and he's saying you don't have a deferral account for all the rest of your capital.

And you're absolutely correct, we don't, but for that very small part of the pre-IPSP engineering which is OM&A, we said, No, for that we do want a deferral account, and that was the yellow light/green light analogy that we've been going through.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  My question:  Is it because it's an O&M -- it's an expense as opposed to a capital expenditure, or is it just it's a type of expense that --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's more the nature of that expenditure than the fact that it's OM&A versus capital, which is the question here.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So let's go take a quick look at Exhibit J2.7 on the attachment 2, where, as I understand it, the minimum risk exercise at the outset of the rigorous budget process came up with a number of $1,000,180,000.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then we look to -- so the budgeters would know this was the minimum risk number, and they would use that to develop their initial presentation; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  What we asked the planners to do is to develop a reasonable range of different levels of expenditures, starting at the minimum level, as defined by our risk tolerances, and then moving up for level 1, level 2, level 3.  And as explained in the prioritization exhibit on page 5, as you increase the funding, you reduce the residual risk that the company faced.


So they're asked not to develop a minimum, but to develop many levels of expenditure that are brought forward to the company to consider as to what would be prudent, given all of the constraints and circumstances faced by the company.

MR. THOMPSON:  They go through that rigour, and then they meet at Sunnybrook on April 17th; is that right?  I'm looking now at Exhibit K3.2.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  If I look at line 1, it appears they were looking for 1.529 billion in the initial cut.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's absolutely correct, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's about -- well, quite a bit above the minimum level.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that's rigour, is it; rigour in action?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Absolutely.  In fact, it is a very clear demonstration of the process we go through.  They are asked not just to plan the minimum level, because the minimum level, as we said clearly in the response to J2.7, is not sustainable over a long period of time.

If you left everything at the minimum level over the planning period, some of those extreme consequences, some of those extreme events, would most probably happen.  That would not be prudent planning.

So, yes, they start at a minimum and say, Keep us out of jail, keep the lights on, meet all of the regulation, and now go forward and make expenditures to meet the objectives of the shareholder, the customer and the company.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So starting at 1.529 billion April the 17th -- and so this work's been going on from, what, January to April to come up with this number?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  This presentation on April 17th was to whom?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It was to the full senior management team, including the president and CEO.  It was all her direct reports, and then some of the other key participants in the process.

MR. THOMPSON:  But at this point the -- well, did you even have the forecasts of actual expenditure for 2008?  What I'm referring to is, in May of 2008, in the white sheets, there were some forecasts --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- of capital and OM&A, and then in the blue sheets they're lower.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  What was there available in April?  Was it the sort of May numbers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, in April we would have had the first quarter projection to work with, and then we would have had some -- a little bit of other advice and guidance from people like myself, who are responsible for the projection process at OM&A and capital to say, you know, In April 17th, what do I know that may or may not be a little bit different than the official Q3 results that went to the board of directors?

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then something happened at the April meeting.  They were sent back to come in with lower numbers; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's absolutely correct.  As I explained this morning when Mr. Rogers took me through this exhibit, one of the key redirections that we found when we brought forward this level of expenditure was the rate impact and the impact on customers.  The rate impact was seen as extreme, and the company was not comfortable coming forward with the rate numbers that were falling out of these types of numbers across all of the revenue requirement components.

In addition, we were looking at some issues in terms of resourcing the level of work that we thought was a reasonable level; also some problems in terms of material acquisition, because, as you well know, acquiring materials has become quite a difficult process in this industry across North America.

Then there's issues associated with the outage management, as well, and getting all of the outages to do some of this work.  So we were sent back to re-evaluate the situation a little bit more closely.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, is all of that in writing somewhere, or is that just verbal instruction?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's in writing, in the sense that I personally ran those sessions.  That's one of the things I do on behalf of the company.  There's material that was brought to those sessions.  It was reviewed, and then there were minutes of those meetings and redirection provided to people.

So, yes, there were all sorts of discussions that happened at that point in time.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm talking about the directions.  Is there something concise that says, Go back to the drawing board?  The rate level of X is far too excessive.  Bring it in at something less than Y.


Is that in writing somewhere?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So what's the rate impact criterion that was applied in April?  What level of rate impact, transmission rate increase impact, is unacceptable to management?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We were looking at a rate increase of approximately 25 percent for 2009.

MR. ROGERS:  I think the question -- I think the witness misunderstood the question, Madam Chair.  If I understood it correctly, Mr. Thompson asked:  What was the rate increase tolerance of the company?  Did I hear you right, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am asking:  What's the criterion for acceptance, 2 percent, 4 percent, 6 percent, 8 percent?  You're telling me you rolled in there with a 25 percent rate increase and that didn't fly.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  But what's the criterion for acceptance?  Is there one?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I wouldn't say the criterion was a hard and fast -- definitely can give you a number, it's 13.1 percent, and go away and generate 13.1 percent.

What they had to do is you have to balance the rate impacts against the other impacts, because if they had said, Mr. Van Dusen, 25 percent is unacceptable, but we'll bring back 2 percent, I would have said to them - and I did - If I bring you back something below a certain level, you are going to be in the minimum level for a whole bunch of programs and potentially accept a whole lot of additional residual risk.  Are we sure we are comfortable with this?


That is the very powerful discussion that is facilitated by a risk-based approach that we had with senior management.  So they say, as any company would have to do, we have to balance the customer expectations, the work we need to get done versus the resources to do the work.


It's a balance that goes back and forth and is iterative.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, my simple question is:  What did they tell you to come back with on rate impact; anything?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't have the specific number.  They told me to come back with something a lot lower and they were telling me that if I could take a look at something in 2009 around -- I don't know exactly -- around the 10 to 12 percent range, they probably would be happier.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So your recollection is, Come back with something in the 10 to 12 range; is that fair?  Have I characterized your --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  However, it wasn't independent of all of the other factors.

If you use that criteria just on rates, Mr. Van Dusen, and you take a look at what projects may need to be deferred, come back and we'll have another discussion, because you may be coming back and telling us the risk now against the company's business values is now too extreme.

In addition, one of the other things that the company did, that was talked about this morning and is in this exhibit, in the end the company decided on a July 1st implementation, as well as a very specific rate mitigation tactic to use, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  This is Sunnybrook 1?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  The July 1st decision was made after Sunnybrook.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let's take it in baby steps here.  So after Sunnybrook 1, you were told to go away; come back with something in the 10 to 12 range.

And you are back in three weeks, May 6th; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And looking at transmission capital, you have managed to slash more than $500 million of capital budgeting?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  That doesn't sound to me like the initial process was very rigorous, if you can cut it by a third in three weeks.  It sounds like there is a lot of fat in it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  You're quoting the correct numbers, but you're reaching the wrong conclusions.

We brought forward a plan which we thought took the company to a reasonable level of residual risk with the $1.5 billion.

What we need to do is, we need to say to the senior management team, this is the reasonable level of expenditures for the assets, as we understand it, with the asset condition information, with all the special studies, we bring back a level.

They said, For various reasons, including concern about the customer, it is too high.  Come back.  So what we do is we go back to our risk-based process and we take a look, okay, what can be deferred, what can be delayed, what can possibly be moved around, and we come back and we say, there is a lower level that meets some of your other criteria, but now you have accepted a larger level of residual risk.

And then specifically on attachment 2 we actually are planning the capital in 2009 at below what we call the minimum level.  We realize that we're not comfortable with this, and over a long period of time that is not a sustained level we could maintain.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, you came back in three weeks with a $518 million reduction on the capital side, and then what happened at that meeting on capital?  Did they say, That's fine, or, Fine-tune it a little more?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, there was some direction to fine-tune it.  Some of the work that went underway from the Sunnybrook 2 to the final asset plan was in the nature of fine-tuning.  It was now more fine-tuning more around outage management and material acquisition and concerns about some of the work that was actually inflate and started, and the need to continue that work versus shutting that work down and just moving to something totally different.

So there was some considerations back and forth, in terms of the fine-tuning.  So although it is 100 million -- $60 million, I would consider it fine-tuning between Sunnybrook 2 and the final asset plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think we may be five or ten minutes to complete this line.  Would that be appropriate to finish it now, this document?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.

Okay.  Let's just quickly drop town to O&M, Sunnybrook 1, April the 17th.  You're proposing $428 million, right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, what happened there?  Because when you come back, you've jacked it up 25 million.  Did they tell to go away and increase O&M?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, that adjustment to OM&A is mainly just as a result of the reduction in capital.  So the overhead capitalized credit is lower, so it's just a straight accounting.  If you're doing less capital work, it attracts less overheads, and so the OM&A level changes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So what was the rate impact as of Sunnybrook 2?  What did you come back with?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh...

MR. THOMPSON:  Roughly.  Were you in the ten to 12 range?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have to take this on advisement, but it was -- no, I think it was a little bit higher than ten to 12.  I recall it being slightly higher than 12.

MR. THOMPSON:  A little higher than 12?  Is that...?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So I take that to be sort of 13-ish kind of thing?  Is that...?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, I can go find the exact numbers, I guess, but...

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, do you want to clarify that on the record?  You can do so later.  That's fine.  You will be back.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm happy that it was a little bit higher than 12.  I didn't quite meet their criteria.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so that is as of May.  And then something goes up to the board of directors in August, and we'll get into this after we have a discussion about confidentiality.  I don't want to refer to the document on the public record, but you are aware of the material that -- or are you aware of the material that went to the board of directors?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm very familiar -- intimately familiar with it.

MR. THOMPSON:  And we now have not only the executive summary, but the attachment that went with it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.  I am intimately familiar with all of it.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that, I think, more or less is reflective of what you're talking about here is the final plan.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then what happened between August and November was, the business plan got converted into a 2009 budget for the company and an outlook for 2010 and 2011.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And again, without getting into the details of the -- just stopping there.  And we have now the documents that went to the board of directors in November pertaining to the budget, right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And can you just confirm on the record that when you compare the August to the November numbers, there's very little change.  If there is a change, it is more up than down.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  There is very little change between the August position and the November position brought to the Board.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so when Mr. Rogers talks about the sensitivity of the company to the customers' needs, will you agree with me that as of August we weren't faced with the economic meltdown in all of its majesty in Ontario?  That surfaced later?  Would you agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  Obviously, the depth and extent of the recession is much greater-known in November than it was in August, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And as of August of 2008, when this went to the board of directors, the company wasn't aware that its actuals for 2008, both on the capital and the OM&A side, would be coming in materially lower than what was shown in the May white sheets.  Is that fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct, to a certain extent.  They have available the projections, but, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And as of August, there wasn't an anticipation, I suggest, that these economic indicators, inflation and so on, would be, for 2009 and future years, materially lower than what the company had initially forecast.  Would you agree?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There was not in August, but there was a very specific recognition of the situation in November.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But as of November -- so when November comes along, though, the economic meltdown's a reality.  The company likely knows that its actuals in 2008 are coming in much lower than presented in the white sheets -- well, lower.  Not much lower.  Lower than presented in the white sheets.  And the effect on the economic indicators in future years is then known, as you have just pointed out.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yet the budget that the board of directors approved in November is essentially identical to what was presented in August.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That may be true, but that, I think, misses the point.  The point is, our board of directors specifically took actions to deal with the economic crisis and affected our rate case.


We knew that the load forecast for 2009 and 2010 was going to be lower than the load forecast we used for the rate submission.  Our board of directors said, Don't update, and one of the reasons they said that is because there would be an adverse impact on the customers.

We have, since August, received many directions from the government in terms of its green initiative, distributed generation, which we know would only push our costs up.  We consciously decided not to update for that information, mainly as a result of the impact on customers.

We know that the interest rates and economic indicators would actually impact our ROE to a negative extent.  We have decided that we are willing to live within that loss.


We consciously took into account the impact of the recession on the customers and on our shareholder.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will leave it there, and we might pick it up, depending on where we go with the issue of these documents, but I will move on to another topic after lunch, if that is satisfactory, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

We will break now for an hour.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:40 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:50 p.m.
Procedural Matters:

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Unless there are any other preliminary matters, I think we will begin with submissions on the request for confidentiality for the documents that have been filed this morning and the transcript of Tuesday.


Mr. Thompson, do you wish to begin, or someone else?

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, I wonder if we might enquire if anybody has any objection to the filing on a confidential basis.  If not, maybe we can cut this a little short.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think that is what we were going to do.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  There we go.  Well, I put on the record this morning what I would describe as my general position on this issue.  My submission is, and I think the Board has ruled in prior cases, that the onus is on a party claiming confidentiality to satisfy you that it should be granted.

There was a debate on this topic during the course of the interrogatory process, and the Board ruled that the material that was subsequently produced be produced in confidence, and I don't believe CME took any position at that stage of the discussion.

So just by way of preliminary, I repeat what I said earlier, that this is a government-owned utility.  It is virtually 100 percent regulated.  Its rates are based on forward plans, and the evidence in this case relates to plans for 2009 and 2010 and even beyond.

Your job is to sift -- consider all of that information and determine the requests for relief that the company makes.

So, as a general rule, my submission is all documents that are relevant to these plans should be scrutinized on the public record.

As a practical matter, as long as participants in the process, such as my client and their counsel, have the documents, which we do in this case - we have them in this case - and we can cross-examine thereon and you hear the cross-examination, then the record is there and my client's interests will be served by a complete record.

So I could live with the situation one way or the other, as a practical matter, and I simply come back to the principle that the onus is on the company to satisfy the Board that these documents should not be on the public record, and I leave it to you to determine whether that onus has been discharged.

I have looked at these documents and they seem to be very, very similar to what's on the public record in their application, but, quite frankly I haven't gone through each and every page to see if there's something there that might be considered confidential.  But I can live with it either way.


Those are my submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Vlahos.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Thompson, just a couple of questions.  You put some emphasis on this company being government owned.  I am just not sure about the distinction of government owned versus privately owned when it comes to your argument of confidentiality.

Should there be a distinction?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I guess having brought it to your attention, I think there probably should.  I think so.  I guess my -- again, I haven't researched this, so I probably -- if you want further submissions on it, I could do that.


But government-owned utilities, in my submission, should have their affairs subject to scrutiny on the public record.  They don't have the private concerns that privately-owned enterprises do.


That's as far as I can put it, but, again, I don't feel strongly enough to urge that on you as a reason for ordering production of this stuff.

MR. VLAHOS:  I appreciate that.  You also spoke about the onus being on the applicant to convince the Board about the need for confidentiality.

I know that's what the Board has said in numerous decisions, but shouldn't there be some onus also on the requester to convince the Board there is indeed value added by having this document produced in the open record as opposed to working around the document and produce, on the transcript, information that may be of value to you to make your arguments and the Board to make its decision without having to take that extra step?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that, I guess, depends who is the requester, and I guess I'm approaching this on the basis that Mr. Rogers is, in effect, requesting that confidentiality be extended to these documents.  You could also view this as, I suppose, CME requesting that you reconsider your confidentiality -- the confidentiality order that you made in the initial instance.

I submit that the onus throughout, in terms of persuading you that there's confidential information that should not be on the public record, rests with those claiming confidentiality protection.  We shouldn't have to have an onus to show that documents pertaining to very topics that are before you and a whole pile of other stuff are not secret.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Warren.
Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  I have no objection to them being held in confidence.  Let me make two points, briefly.  First of all, I agree with the principle articulated by Mr. Thompson.  And, Mr. Vlahos, if I may respond to your enquiry to him, the Board has articulated the principle that these should be on the public record, and anyone who wants to deviate from that bears the onus throughout.


Having said that, my understanding from Mr. Rogers is that these documents contain, at various points within them, information which, if -- cannot be filed publicly because of securities legislation.


As a practical matter, I could do not see -- I see some danger in trying to chop up this document so that there are redacted portions and unredacted portions.  I think that confuses it more than helps disclosure, and, for those reasons, I say I do not object to them being held in confidence.

Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Faye, do you have anything else?

MR. FAYE:  No.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. DeVellis?
Submissions by Mr. DeVellis:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Our position is essentially the same.  I think the two documents that were produced today are similar in nature to the business plan that was produced in response to our interrogatory response.  On that basis, we agree that -- well, we accept the company's position that that should also be confidential, although there seems to be a lot in there that is not confidential, but I understand the company's position that we can't do a line-by-line redaction of the documents.


But with respect to the other issue, as to the transcript, I think that I agree with what Mr. Stephenson was alluding to on Tuesday, that there doesn't seem to be much in the redacted portion of the transcript that is confidential.


I think it is particularly problematic when you have a transcript that is redacted, because that is something that the public could access and they will see there is a redaction there, and that may raise red flags for people, unnecessarily.


So I would think, if at all possible, that the transcript should not be redacted, upon further review, if there is nothing really confidential in there.

Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, we agree with Mr. Thompson in principle - that is, his statement of principle - and nothing to add to the comments you have already heard about whether the specific document should be kept in confidence.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.
Submissions by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, I take no position with respect to this material received today, and, frankly, I am not prepared to waste the time necessary to fight about the document that we were cross-examining on yesterday.

That being said, it escapes me what, in the actual in camera cross-examination, was confidential at all, having heard it.  And I do think the onus is -- the onus is squarely on my friend, Mr. Rogers, to tell you what it is about the subject matter of that cross-examination that falls within the requirement of confidentiality, and we can respond to it.


The onus is clearly on him on that.  There has been no prior order made about that, and the mere fact it was about a subject matter of which there was a prior order doesn't in and of itself discharge that obligation.  I just don't see it, frankly.


And, I mean, this is a public body and there is a strong presumption that its proceedings should be conducted in public, and the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act applies and all of that sort of thing.


And frankly, not only is there a public interest, there is a practical interest in it as well, because, of course, if we're going to refer to the in camera portion of the transcript in our final argument, presumably to the extent it is an oral argument, then we have to go in camera for that, and to the extent it is a written argument, presumably we have to file under seal or something.  I know all of that can be done, but I just don't see, unless there is something that my friend can point to, why we would go down that road.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Mr. Balogh?
Submissions by Mr. Balogh:


MR. BALOGH:  Yes.  Madam Chair, my understanding is, however limited it may be, I thought that the Board was here to provide oversight of the operation of Hydro One.  And I'm just wondering if some of these documents being listed or classified as documents filed in confidence, would it not in some way limit this exercise of providing oversight?


My second question is, would this classification of business plans, prior to the current year, would they also be treated as a confidential document, just in case there may be -- there would be some review to compare the actual results achieved by the company and what was planned in business plans of prior years.


Thank you.  This was my question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Balogh.

Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair, very briefly.  I think it might be helpful if we refer to the Board's actual Practice Direction on Confidential Filings.


And if you look at that -- I will read a couple of sections.  I doubt everyone has it with them.  I'm probably the only one who makes a practice of carrying it around with him at all times.  But it confirms the view that the default position for any material that goes before this Board goes on the public record, and only where it meets the criteria set out in the Practice Direction on Confidential Filings will exceptions be made, and those exceptions will be made in accordance with the Practice Direction.


I don't have a specific submission on whether all or part of these documents are confidential.  I have heard my friend, and some other people have commented on that, but I would like to take you -- and I will read this out, to the extent people don't have it in front of them.

But I would like you to take you to two sections of the Practice Direction.  The first one relates to the two hard copies of documents that were filed this morning.  And under 5.1.4 of the Practice Direction -- this deals with the process of confidentiality requests -- it states:

"A request for confidentiality must include the following items..."

And then if you skip down to (c), it says:

"...either a non-confidential, redacted version of the document from which the information that is the subject of the confidentiality request has been deleted or stricken; or, 2), where the request for confidentiality relates to the entire document, a non-confidential description or summary of the document."

Now, I am not casting any blame on Hydro One here.  Frankly, oftentimes this provision is ignored, but since it is before the Board I thought I would raise it.


So I would ask Mr. Rogers in his response to this to address whether, A, it would be possible to provide redacted versions of these two documents that redacted -- black-lined -- or, not black-lined, but blacked out the specific portions that are confidential, and if that is not possible, he could explain why, or if it's too much hassle or whatever, he could give us his reasons on that.


The second comment I will make relates to the transcript, and the Practice Direction deals with that as well.  Section 6.2.4 reads:

"To the extent that any public testimony is given in camera, the Board may direct that it be placed on the public record.  Where the Board considers that a transcript of an in camera portion of a hearing contains both confidential and non-confidential information, the Board may order that the following be prepared for the public record:  A, a redacted version of the transcript, or B, a public summary of the transcript."

So my comment here is similar to my comment on the two exhibits that were filed.  I would ask Mr. Rogers in his remarks to address whether or not, to the extent there really are confidential portions of the in camera session, if we could have -- a blacked-out version would be possible, as opposed to excluding the entire in camera session.

The reason I raise this is because Mr. Warren, and I think Mr. DeVellis, both mentioned that it is actually a bit of a pain to do that.  There's some work involved, and there may be argument back and forth as to which sentences have to be redacted.  That's one side of the coin.

But the other side of the coin is this:  The Board is essentially eventually going to have to write a decision on this case, and it is possible that it will have to write a decision that refers to some of the information in these documents or on the transcript.


And what has happened in the past, unfortunately, is we've been a little bit lax and we've allowed entire documents to be considered confidential when perhaps the whole document wasn't confidential.

And the Board has been in a very difficult position, where they have had to issue a confidential portion to a public Board decision, and that's something that may on occasion -- we may have to do that no matter what on some occasions, but to the extent we can actually hone this down and take out only the parts that are actually confidential, my view is that would be in keeping with the Practice Direction, and it promotes the Board's mandate of keeping as much on the public record as possible.


Thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


Mr. Rogers, do you have anything in reply?

Submissions by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  I am not going to write a book on this topic.

Madam Chair, the basis of the objection generally is that it will violate securities regulations to file this forward-looking information, financial information, which is contained in these documents.


And if you look at the documents you will see that it provides fairly detailed financial information, both of the ones we're talking about today, out to 2013.  The long-term financial outlook goes out to 2018.  Dividend strategy goes out to 2018, cash-flow breakdown out to 2018.

This is the kind of financial information that the securities regulations don't permit companies to disseminate to the public.  That is the basis for the confidentiality claim.


Secondly, on the budget documents, which is the second set of documents, there are forecasts once again that go out well into the future, that provide financial information well beyond the rate period you're dealing with.  And it is for that reason that we claim confidentiality on these documents.

Now, I will also say that if you look at these documents you will see, I think, that the information contained in them for the rate period is consistent with what's been filed in this rate case before you.  In fact, the detail that you have available to you to exercise the oversight function that you have is in much greater detail than in these documents for the relevant time period.  You have everything you need to make a decision in this case in the filing without these documents even being filed.


Now, I said that the company was prepared to file these documents.  I think it has a value to you, and to the intervenors too, to see the level of scrutiny that this company goes through before coming forward with a rate case.

But I do ask you to consider carefully the securities prohibition against disseminating future financial information on a limited basis, which is what is being done here.


Now, as to redacting certain portions, yes, it could be done.  I think we probably could go through these documents with some time and take out reference -- all references beyond the rate period.

However, what would be the value of that?  You've got all of that information already before you in the pre-filed evidence in greater detail than you will find in these documents.


And so that would be an irrelevant, extraneous piece of information to give to you, if we're going to redact everything.


Oh, the other thing I am reminded to point out is, in these documents you will see that there is information that goes beyond the transmission system as well.  Brantford Hydro is referred to in these documents -- or, I'm sorry, Brampton Hydro is referred to in these documents.  The remotes business is referred to in these documents.  It's not just the transmission business.  So that's another reason for it.


Now -- so I hear what my friend says about redacting.  I submit to you that would be a very impractical thing to do, and would not -- you would end up with nothing of any greater value than you've already got; in fact, in less detail.

I can go on at greater length but that is the essential of the claim for confidentiality here.


The question about the transcripts.  My principal concern is with these new documents that we filed, that the transcripts of what goes on there be kept confidential.


I have to agree with what Mr. Stephenson said about the transcript of last Tuesday.  In fact, I think, if you recall, I said that this morning.  I acknowledge that the evidence given on Tuesday was at the inoffensive end of the continuum.


My concern really is, I think, that my client takes so seriously this confidentiality protection that you give through your rules that it does not want to seem them weakened.  That was really the point of my submission this morning.


If you rule that that transcript is to be made public, I don't think that we will appeal it to the Court of Appeal or wherever it would go.  My instructions are to oppose it, and the reason for it is that we don't want to weaken the framework of confidentiality that you have set up.  But I do acknowledge that the transcript on Tuesday is relatively harmless taken alone.

I would be very concerned about trying to parse the transcript which may come out of an examination of these documents which I filed today.  That's something we can deal with in the future, I suppose.  But whatever you decide about Tuesday, I ask you to keep in mind that the problem is going to be a lot greater, I suspect, as we go forward with respect to these documents.


Now, I won't bore you with all of the arguments about protecting the company's internal management procedures, because that's really not the essence of this argument.


So those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Okay, thank you for that.  We will reserve on our decision and either deliver it later today or first thing tomorrow morning.


So if we can proceed with panel 3.  Oops...

MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry.  Forgive me for interrupting.  Can I file some undertaking answers now before --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.  Microphone, please?
Further Procedural Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, I should know that by now.

Excuse me.  I would like to just file some undertakings, if I could, and I have given to Board counsel -- these are available for distribution.  I don't believe any explanation is needed beyond the actual answer.


We have filed today the following:  J1.1, J1.2, J1.3, J1.4, J2.2, J2.4, J2.5 and J2.6.

Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  I have them here, Madam Chair, and we haven't sorted them into packages yet, so unless there is going to be questions immediately, maybe Mr. Zwarenstein and I will work on sorting those and bring them up and hand them out when we've got them ready.  They're just in a pile now.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  I think that is sensible.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Okay, if there is nothing further, we will proceed with Mr. Thompson.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson (continued):


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Mr. Van Dusen and panel, I just have a couple of further questions on this minimum risk planning concept, if I might.


Now, do I understand correctly that it applies both to capital spending plans and O&M spending plans?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it does.  There is a small portion of the common shared services costs that don't go through the exact same risk-based process.  So some of the common costs for, say, the finance function or the human resource function don't go through the same sort of process.


So there is that part that does not, but, yes, it applies to OM&A and capital.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the evidence indicates that the 2008 capital budget that the Board approved was the one presented by Hydro, I believe, of $774 million.  Is that in the ballpark, to your knowledge?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, are you asking about the budget?


MR. THOMPSON:  The 2008 capital budget, I believe the Board -- I got this number from a document Mr. Millar handed out, but it has approved Board expenditures 2008, $774 million, in that order of magnitude.  Is that --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am just trying to confirm the number here.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's not so much the number.  Maybe I could put my question.  My question:  Did that reflect a minimum risk -- in other words, was it at the minimum or higher?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The 2008 actual capital expenditures were 704.2.  That was filed in the blue sheet update of February 13th, and your question is:  Was that reflective of just minimum, or of minimum plus other levels?


MR. THOMPSON:  I actually started with the Board-approved number, which is some $60 million higher.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, my apologies.  The Board-approved number is 744, yes.  Sorry.


MR. THOMPSON:  And my question:  Was that number at or above the minimum risk level for 2008?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, it varies by the various categories of costs, sustaining development and operation, and then within those, within the specific things.  But, in general, there were categories of spending that were above the minimum level and the Board approved of $774, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are we talking about planned spending?  In other words, did the Board-approved number, 744 or whatever it is, reflect the planned minimum or higher?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  It reflected higher than the planned minimum.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then we had actual spending in 2008 that was well below the Board approved?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  The actual spending was approximately $70 million below the Board-approved number.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it seems to follow, from that that this minimum risk concept doesn't affect spending in a particular year?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  With all due respect, that's not correct.


When we are in year, and the expenditures are happening on a monthly basis, there's a review by what's called the operations committee, which is explained in one of the exhibits on corporate governance.  And the operations committee, one of their roles is to review year-to-date expenditures and take a look at where particular circumstances have changed or where there is new information, or whether there is a particular problem that needs to be addressed and funds need to be redirected.


So in the case of 2008, there were several circumstances where, although that was our plan, that was the work we wanted to do, we couldn't accomplish it all for one reason or another.


And there are various reasons which were talked about by the previous panel, and there's an Exhibit A-14-7 that talks about the work execution strategy and the particular challenges we had in 2008.


So it's a very conscious redirection process using the risk-based information to help us make those decisions, but some of the decisions are obvious.  If something blows up, you've got to fix it.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I don't want to dwell on this any longer, but the total transmissional capital minimum level spending in J2.7 is $1.180 billion, roughly.  And you have told me that the Board-approved budget for 2008 was higher than the minimum level.


What was the minimum level for 2008?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, my goodness.


MR. THOMPSON:  Approximately?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Offhand, I would have no idea.  That's going back to 2006 period when we did the planning for this 2007 and 2008 rate application.  That's a long time ago.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you told me that the Board approved was higher than the minimum, I thought, a few moments ago for 2008.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I did.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So you must have some idea that 744 or 774 is higher than the minimum?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There's no question.  I do have some idea that it was higher, but you are asking me about a specific number associated with the minimum.  I just don't have that handy.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the actual spending on your evidence, I think, was $704 million.  Is that below the minimum or above the minimum?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  In many cases, across certain types of asset categories --

MR. THOMPSON:  Total.  Is the total $704 above or below the total minimum?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't know that exactly.  I would hazard that it was below the minimum, but I don't know that exactly right now.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, can we take that, subject to check, that it is below the minimum for the purposes of my questions?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  For the purpose of your question, I will take it subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  If it's not below the minimum, perhaps you could correct that on the record tomorrow or when you get a chance.

But from your evidence, it appears that you can spend below minimum conceptually; is that correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  You can.  You obviously can in the actual sense spend below the minimum.  If you continue to spend below the minimum for any length of time, you are going to end up with consequences, consequences that we don't want to happen and that the customers don't want to happen, and they're very probable, what those events would happen.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in fact, for 2009, on your evidence, you are planning to spend below the minimum.  You say the minimum is 1.180 billion, and the planned spending is going to be roughly 67 -- well, it's going to be 944 million, correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the consequences of, if you will, under-spending, either compared to budget or to minimum, from Hydro One's perspective, is, you are foregoing the recovery of revenue from ratepayers with respect to capital expenditures, right?  In that particular test period.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The consequence for Hydro One is that we're taking on a larger risk profile than we feel comfortable with.  And if you'll notice in that same exhibit, in 2010 in capex we're spending above the minimum level.  So one way of thinking about it very generally is, there is a bit of catch-up starting in 2010.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me come at it this way.  In this Exhibit K3.2, you went from Sunnybrook 2 to 1 billion and 11 million down to 944 million in your as-filed plan.  This is capital spending.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that's a reduction in capital spending, I make it, of about $67 million.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in questions that have been asked by intervenors about what is the revenue-requirement impact of a 10 percent reduction in the capital budget, the answer has been, for a 10 percent reduction, would be $5 million in 2009.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, without disagreeing with my colleagues from previous panels, what you're talking about, of course, is, in-service additions drive the revenue requirement and drive the rate case.  You could have change in capital expenditures in any given year with no impact on in-service additions, and therefore no impact on rate base.

So the answer is, it depends on whether that was in-service capital or not.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I put it to you Hydro One's evidence says, if you reduce the in-service forecast -- or at least as I understand it -- or the capital budget by 10 percent, the impact in 2009 is a reduction in revenue requirement of $5 million, 5 million in one interrogatory response and 5.1 in another.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  You are referring to Board Interrogatory -- sorry, Interrogatory I-2-18, yes.  I see that --

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, and there is another one from Schools --

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Madam Chair, I think I am correct in saying that that assumes that all that capital goes in service in the rate period.  That's the assumption.  And that's the assumption that the witness has said is really not very realistic, but...

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's just take -- those interrogatory responses quote a number of $5 million, and so by reducing planned spending from 9 -- from 1 -- by $67 million, is it fair to conclude what the company has foregone is the recovery of $5 million, or actually less than 5 million from ratepayers.  Is that a conclusion I can draw?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The interrogatory response made the assumption that all that capital went into service in the year, and it looked -- it was doing a sensitivity analysis, looking at a 10 percent reduction.


So it said, take a look at a 10 percent reduction in your capital forecast in 9 and 10 of 94 million and 107 million, which were the 10 percent numbers, and assume all of that stuff would have gone into service.  What would have been the impact on the revenue requirement?  And our answer is approximately 5 million for 9 and 15 for 10.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Under those assumptions then, and with the $67 million reduction, the capital budget from Sunnybrook 2 to final plan --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- mean that the company has foregone recovering from ratepayers something less than $5 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I take your point.  I understand that.  Yes, approximately, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So then let's turn to the O&M side of the equation.  This is in K3.2.  Because you tell us in the J2.7 document that the minimum requirements for O&M for 2009 are $377.5 million.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so the initial presentation at Sunnybrook 1 was for an O&M -- this is K3.2 -- of 428 million, which is considerably above the minimum, almost 50 million above the -- well, it's actually more than 50 million above the minimum.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't consider that considerably, but it is above the minimum, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.  Is 428 not 50 million above 378?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I'm agreeing with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then in response to the direction, take the capital budget down, the O&M expense of Sunnybrook 2 went up another 25 million, correct?  453?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, they did, and I think we've talked about that before.  That had to do with the application of the overhead credit.  If you are reducing your capital expenditures, you're reducing the attractions of overhead to capital.  It's just the way the accounting works.  So the OM&A would go up.

So that wasn't -- that was -- very little of that was program-related changes.  Most of that is an overhead capitalized impact, that's all.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But for the next step between Sunnybrook 2 and asset plan, the O&M came down from 453 to 435, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Which is actually about 57 million above the minimum.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.  I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so it looks to me like you are foregoing recovery on capital expenditures below the minimum recovery from ratepayers, under the assumptions in the interrogatory response of $5 million or less, but you are increasing the recovery under O&M expenses above the minimum by $57 million.  It seems to me you've come out ahead of the game.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  With all due respect, it is not a matter of coming out ahead of the game.  It is a matter of putting together a balanced work program that meets the corporate objectives of the company and doesn't expose Hydro One and its customers to undue risk.


There's certain necessary work that needs to be done to make sure that the system is operating safely and reliably.  That judgment call, in terms of the trade-off between OM&A and capital, the overall level of increases to the customer, our ability to get outages, all of that is taken into consideration.


So, yes, the overall level of OM&A went up between the original 428 and 435.  That difference is only $7 million.  From the initial proposal we put in front of senior management to the final, there was only a $7 million change in the overall OM&A envelope.


So with all due respect, I would like to take credit for getting it a bit right on OM&A and having to go back to the ranch on capital for them.


MR. THOMPSON:  No, but you are missing my point.  You folks come in here, day three of the hearing, laying out all this stuff that for the capital budget in 2009 we're actually planning to spend under our minimum.

And I say to you, well, if we're going to use the minimum as the benchmark for testing the reasonableness of what you are doing, on the O&M side you are 58 million above the minimum.  Those are the facts.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  With all due respect, just arbitrarily saying that we're 58 above and therefore we're imprudent is not the case.  We have clearly indicated that the spend at the minimum level in OM&A would not be a prudent level of expenditures.  It's not something the company felt comfortable doing.  We didn't think it was good for our customers, for our shareholders or for anyone.

We have brought forward the specific programs in front of this Board with witnesses on the first two panels to defend the level of expenditures in these areas as being reasonable and what is appropriate.

The fact that it is different than our minimum level really should give the Board and should give you assurances that we have a very robust, risk-based process where we can articulate the trade-off between different types of investment in same sort of language, in the language of risk.  That's what we're doing.

MR. THOMPSON:  If we use the minimum as a test of reasonableness, a minimum level, then your O&M expenses are unreasonable.  I'm not taking you to the level of imprudence.  I am just saying:  What are the tests for --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I just outright disagree with the statement that minimum level is not a reasonable level.  We have made that very clear.  We're very uncomfortable with what we're doing with capital in 2009.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let's move on.

At the conclusion of the questioning this morning, I thought I -- you said something about, if I understood you correctly -- and I understood it to be referring to the board of directors meeting in November, but something to the effect that there were numbers showing that profit was going to be foregone in 2009.

Now, stopping there, have I paraphrased that fairly?  If not, please tell me what you were saying there.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Information was certainly taken to the board that indicated that if we were to do an update to the business plan and, thus, the transmission rate application, the impact of many factors would either drive up the rate increase that would be passed on to the transmission customers, or would drive down net income and the associated ratios that give us our A credit rating and on which we borrow.

MR. THOMPSON:  Did the board -- were you telling us that the board of directors made a conscious decision to forego some profit in 2009 at that November budget meeting?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I wasn't present at that board of directors meeting.  I do know what we took to them was saying, We can do this and this is the impact, or we can do this.

And they told us, For the time being, don't update the business plan.  Don't update the rate filing.  That was the direction to us.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is there anything in writing that says the board of directors directed management to leave some profit on the table in 2009?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I wasn't at the meeting, and I'm not privy to the minutes.  I certainly -- the person who went was the vice president of regulation, our chief regulatory officer.

Ms. Frank told us what she went forward with.  She came back and gave me my directions in terms of what I was to do with business planning, so I am assuming something happened.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are you aware of any writing to that effect?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am not aware of any writing to that effect.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  But do you understand that to be one of the strategic objectives of this 2009 plan, leave some profit on the table?  Don't take as much as we're technically entitled to, because it's hard times?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think it was -- well, I know it was one of the considerations that was taken to the board in terms of an update now would have this sort of impact, and this is what would be passed through in rates and please provide direction.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's move on to -- I just wanted to follow up on a couple of things about the cost of capital that Mr. Aiken was talking to you about this morning.  Perhaps the quickest way to do this -- and I know this is really the next panel, but if I could just put this on the record now, it might expedite things for the next panel.

If you would turn up Exhibit B, "B" as in "Barrie", tab 1, I have it, and page -- let's do it this way.  B2, Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  I want to focus here on equity.  I appreciate this has been done on the cost rate of 0.5 percent, and there is an update coming at current numbers, which I think for -- would be 8.01 percent based on something the Board published on February 24th.

But at 8.5 percent, the equity dollars are 240 million; right?  Do you see that under line 5, 2009?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then in 2010 at 9.35, the equity dollars are 286.1 million.  Do you see that?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then could you take, subject to check, that in another exhibit, C1, tab 7, the PILs number for 2009 is 31.9 million or, rounded, $32 million?

MR. INNIS:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  For 2010, the PILs number is 48 million, subject to check?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if you add those two together, I get equity return and PILs, based on the filing, $272 million.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in 2010, 334 million, subject to check?

Would you agree with that?

MR. INNIS:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  So that would be the measure of the head room of the amount of profit that could be left on the table; correct?  If management and the board of directors said, Leave some profit on the table, the actual head room would be, on the filing, $272 million, and -- for 2009, and $334 million for 2010?  I just want to get the numbers on --

MR. INNIS:  I didn't follow the term "head room" on that.  I am not too sure what you are getting at there.

MR. THOMPSON:  The difference between zero profit and 8.35 plus taxes.

MR. INNIS:  And you're asking about taxes, for what reason?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Because if you forego profit, then you won't collect the taxes on the profit.

MR. INNIS:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  So are those numbers okay, subject to check?

MR. INNIS:  I will accept them, subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the update you are doing for Mr. Aiken, my understanding is that the Board's currently approved ROE is 8.01 percent.  That was based on, I am told, an announcement a few days ago.  Is that true?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I am aware of that.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you're going to be updating these numbers for 8.01; is that right?

MR. INNIS:  I would expect before we finalize our rates that we would update our filing to reflect the new ROEs; correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But are you going to be doing that in response to Mr. Aiken, is really what I am getting at?  Is that the number we'll see for ROE, 8.01?

MR. INNIS:  He was asking for the rate itself and the revenue requirement impact.

MR. THOMPSON:  I thought he was asking for updating for equity at the current Board-approved -- well, could I simply ask that you update the dollars when you update the percentages that Mr. Aiken asked you about?  I think --

MR. ROGERS:  The answer is yes.  He did not ask, and the answer is, yes, we will do it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just so I understand this, in the cost of capital and related taxes dollars, there is a deemed short-term debt rate.  My understanding is that the Board's determination of that amount recently was 1.33 percent.  Can we update that, as well, for the dollars?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Then the deemed long-term debt rate is over 7, I believe.  I don't have the precise number.  Will that be updated, as well, in terms of the dollars?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

Finally, just on PILs, and this may not be for this panel, but I will ask it.  The PILs tax rate assumed in the application for 2009 I think is 33 percent.

My understanding is that number is closer to 29 for -- 29 percent.  Will there be an update for what that does to these numbers, and if that hasn't been committed to, could I ask that it be added to the update numbers that Mr. Aiken put to you.


MR. INNIS:  I believe our filing is using the current tax rate for 2009.


MR. THOMPSON:  So is that saying there will be no update on that number?

MR. INNIS:  We're using the current tax rate; therefore, there is no need to update that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I will come back to that with the next panel, when I know what the number is that I'm talking about.


Okay.  Let's move on --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just one second.  Mr. Rogers, did you want to just add those three components to the existing undertaking, or do you want a new undertaking number?  What is the best way to keep track of it? 


MR. ROGERS:  I think we had an undertaking to get the rates, and why don't we just add on to that that we will have the company calculate the dollars associated with those changes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  That's fine.  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, I have a few other questions about the matters that are giving rise to what you call in your application the rates-revenue -- the increase in rates-revenue requirement.


And perhaps, just to put these in context, you could turn up the revenue-requirement evidence, and this is in Exhibit E.  Have I got this right?  No.  Yes, E1, tab 1, table 2, which is on page 3, and -- which deals with 2009 over 2008, and then table 4 on page 5, which deals with 2010 versus 2009.  This is an area of your panel's responsibility, as I understand?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if we could just start with 2008.  The rates-revenue requirement is shown at the bottom for 2009 at $1199 million, right?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's 62 million above the current Board-approved revenue requirement.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So what you are seeking or asking the Board to approve in this case is a rates-revenue requirement that adds 62 million to the currently approved requirement.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And embedded in that 62 million are these higher ROE numbers and debt numbers that Mr. Aiken discussed and you will be updating, right?  In other words, when the cost-of-capital update comes through, the 62 will go down.


MR. INNIS:  For the ROE, yes, it would, because the ROE is lower than what we have in our current submission.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's right.  The ROE is lower, and --

MR. INNIS:  And then we'd have to flow through the full impact of that.  That would be my expectation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  We will find out exactly what that amount is, but that is one adjustment that's going to take place, just by virtue of the flow-through feature of your application with respect to these numbers; fair?

MR. INNIS:  Strictly isolating the ROE reduction, that would be the case.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then in terms of some other items that are giving rise to this $62 million -- and let me just put a general question to you first.

If the update to cost of capital and any other adjustments that are made to the as-filed revenue-requirement presentation reduces that number 62 down to zero or lower, is the equivalent a rate freeze for 2009?

MR. INNIS:  I would have to look at that.  That's not necessarily so.  This is a revenue requirement.  The revenue requirement would then get factored into a rate calculation, which would look at load and things like that.  So I would have to flow that through to see what the rate impact would be.


And there is a number of different factors that go into the calculation of a rate, charge determinants and things like that.  So I would want to do that calculation first.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, just on that point, if you go to the next table, table 3, it is showing, at least as I understand it, that the extent to which the, if you will, reduction in load forecast is contributing to that $62 million is about $6 million, right?  You will see that in the fourth --

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- line down.

MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so maybe I should put the question this way.  If the adjustments are made by flow-through and any disallowances or other adjustments the Board makes, are enough to be $68 million -- that's the 62 plus the 6 related to load forecast -- would we then be in a situation of equivalency to a rate freeze?


MR. INNIS:  Certainly it would go down, and, yes, I believe that the number would be close to requiring no increase, but once again, I would like the opportunity to calculate the rate itself.


MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that.

Okay.  So then let's just check and return to 2010.  We see the number there, the rates-revenue requirement is $110 million.  That's at table 4, page 5 of 6.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And we know that when the cost-of-capital numbers are adjusted for '08 and '09, based on existing rates, that number will change.  It will go down.  Fair?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then if the accumulation of other adjustments the Board makes equal 110, then it may not be the equivalent of a rate freeze, because if we go to the next page, we see that the change in load forecast is contributing 36 million to that 110 million rates revenue-requirement increase.  Fair?


MR. INNIS:  Fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  But if the numbers totalled 146 million, then we would also be approximately in a rate-freeze situation for 2010.  Fair?


MR. INNIS:  Fair, subject to the calculation actually being made.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, in terms of this -- let's go back to table 4, and this relates to some questions that Mr. Aiken had of you with respect to external revenues.  Do you see that at line 6?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that's a deduction from -- well, it's a credit, if you will, to -- that's brought into account in determining revenue requirement.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  And Mr. Aiken took you to some numbers -- and, sorry, just in the application you have external revenues for '09 of 19 million, right?  Again, I'm just looking at this line 6.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And 18 million in 2010.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And Mr. Aiken took you to the external-revenues exhibit, which is -- where am I here?  C1 -- is it C or D?  The revenues are in --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The revenues are in E1, tab 1, schedule 2.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's D as in David?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  E as in Edward.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Sorry.  Yes, right.  All right.

And we look that forecast.  You've got 2009, 18.6, which is rounded up.  Table 1 of E1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 2 of 6.  Right?  It is rounded up to 19 in the table we were looking at previously.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But if we look at the actuals here, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 34.3, 38.4, 36.6, 46.0, and I make that to be an average over those four years of $38.8 million.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I will.

MR. THOMPSON:  That happens to be about $20 million above what you are including in the presentation?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So if the Board felt you were understating these revenues for the purposes of determining your revenue requirement and accepted a submission that the number should be 38.8 million, rather than 18.6, that would add $20 million to the revenue line; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.  But I can assure the Board that the numbers we have for the test years of 18.6 and 18.0 are a valid forecast and projection.  There are two reasons that will back up my comments.

One is, as we've been talking about earlier in the proceeding, there's great pressure on Hydro One to achieve its core work program.

We are making a conscious effort going forward to do only the absolute required external work and make sure that our workforce concentrate on the core work program.

In addition, in 2008 our actual budget in previous submission was actually to do much less work in 2008.  The $46 million that you see there is a result of a couple of things.  One, there was an extraordinary gain on secondary land use.  That just had to do with external revenues, additional revenues that we weren't anticipating that came in, so that really wasn't the diversion of workforces.  It is just something that was a one-time event that happened. 


Then there were some very specific circumstances that happened at OPG that we had to deal with in 2008 that they asked us to deal with, in terms of doing some work at their generating stations.

So the focus in 2009 and 2010 is going to be on the core work program, rather than the work we absolutely have to do for OPG and others, and then there was the extraordinary gain in the secondary land use area.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the reality is that number is substantially below anything that was achieved historically from 2005 through to 2008.  That's what the evidence shows; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's right.  We are making a conscious effort to do less external work and to do more internal work.  So we can control most of that, although to the extent there would be some extraordinary gain from our ability to leverage our land use, secondary land use, that may or may not happen.  Actual events sometimes transpire different than planned.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  What I wanted to find out is have you folks -- tell me what would be the increment, because I appreciate these numbers are revenues, and to generate $46 million of revenue or $38 million, you have to incur some costs.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Aiken took you to the costs side of the equation, which was C1, tab 2, schedule 11.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  In that document, the costs -- if I can just find it, the costs for 2008 to achieve $46 million of revenue were about $20.5 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Which tells me that the gross margin on these revenues, at least in that year, was about 55 percent; something over 50 percent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So my question is:  If the Board subscribed to a submission that the 18.6 should be $20 million higher, what would be the approximate gross margin that should be deducted from the rates revenue requirement?

Would it be roughly 55 percent of the 20?  Would that be a reasonable way of calculating it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think two things ought to be taken into account here.  One is, if you take a look at the external revenues and you see the $22 million there, I think, as we explained earlier, there really isn't a cost associated with that.  So to the extent that we do much better than planned there, our margin would appear to be much greater.

In terms of our general pricing policy, we would look to add on to work we do externally such that we don't adversely impact the customers.  We looked at an approximate 10 percent margin of work we do externally.  So that would be -- all other things being equal, that would be approximately the margin we would add on to external work.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, does that reconcile with these cost numbers?  If you look at the cost numbers, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, versus the revenue numbers for the same years, that's not showing a 10 percent margin.  That's showing well over 50 percent.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  I think if you deducted from the revenues the secondary land use amount, and then took a look at the ratio, it would be -- I think it looks like it would be above 10 percent, but it would be much closer --

MR. THOMPSON:  We're missing a line item of costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We're not missing -- there is just no cost associated with it, so it is appropriately shown as zero cost.  I guess for presentation, we could have put it in at zero cost to make the link closer.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm not following you.  If the total for all four items was 20 million higher and if one line item has zero costs, then are not the costs that appear in C1, tab 2, schedule 11 the costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, I was just trying to say you were taking a look saying there are four categories in revenues and we're only showing two categories in costs.  So I am saying it may have been more helpful to have put the cost category in with zero, with a footnote.  I'm just saying that may have helped the reader understand the evidence better.

MR. THOMPSON:  I take it if it's in there as zero, it's not going to make a difference.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I agree with you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I don't see where we get the margin of 10 percent.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, these -- let me take you to the 2008.  The total revenues are 34.4.  I'm going to deduct from that 34.4 the secondary land use revenue of 18.4 --

MR. THOMPSON:  Where are you getting the 34.4?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, 46.0.  So I am looking at the 46.0 for 2008 for external revenues.  I'm going to deduct from that the 22 million associated with the secondary land use.  I'm going to come up with a number which is $34 million -- sorry, $24 million, and I'm going to compare that $24 million to the $20.5 million, and there's the margin.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think what you're saying is secondary land use revenues and costs are the same; therefore, they net out to zero.  Is that what you're trying to say?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I'm not.  I'm saying there isn't an OM&A cost associated with the secondary land use revenues.  It is land that we have and have had for a long time, and we make use of that land where it is appropriate in terms of renting it out.  Sometimes it's rented out to farmers.  Sometimes it's rented out to people to put billboards on them.

It's a whole use of secondary land use.  So there isn't, per se, a cost associated with it.  There would be some dollars associated with managing that, I guess, buried in the facilities and real estate OM&A, but it would be minor.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I will review the transcript.  Your evidence is that the margin is 10 percent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, that's the margin we apply.  It can be different depending on the circumstances.

MR. THOMPSON:  So if the Board added 20 million of revenue, the net effect on the rates revenue requirement would be 2 million, if we apply that margin?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If you applied that margin, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Let's move on, then, to another item in E, the revenue requirement schedule.  Just go back.  Again, this is something Mr. Aiken was discussing with you.  It was the export revenue credit line.  That's line 7.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  That is in there at $12 million; right?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  He took you to a VECC exhibit, which was -- I think it is Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 66.  If you could just turn that up?

MR. INNIS:  Just a moment, please.

Yes, I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  You are getting for him the actual export credit for 2008, which was almost 20 million as of the end of September, correct, 2008? 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 


MR. THOMPSON:  And the number -- we'll see what it is.  But let's assume for the sake of argument that we just gross up the number to the end of September for the remaining three months -- in other words, divide it by three and multiply by four -- and you get a number of 26 million.  Would you take that, subject to check? 


MR. INNIS:  Yes. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And assume the Board says, well, there's no evidence to support -- there's no persuasive evidence to support the 12 million credit and puts in a higher number or adjusts for higher export revenue credit.  That would operate to reduce the rates-revenue requirement number, correct? 


MR. INNIS:  Strictly from a mathematical point of view, that's correct --

MR. THOMPSON:  That type of adjustment.

MR. INNIS:  -- and that would have to be defended and supported. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Now, to the extent export revenue is higher than what's embedded in your table 2 here, and as well in -- the same numbers appear in table 4 -- does that get picked up in a deferral account somewhere?  Or is that money that Hydro One keeps? 


MR. INNIS:  There is not a deferral account approved for the export revenue credit. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you. 


So if that number is under-forecast, that is gravy for Hydro One.  And it comes in, actually, higher? 


MR. INNIS:  And to the extent that it is under, that would penalize us also. 


MR. THOMPSON:  I understand.

Then let's go to line 8, "deduct other cost charges".  And this is another credit.  And there's an exhibit on that document that helps us.  I think it is a Board document, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 15.  If you could just turn that up, please.  Do you have that? 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do. 


MR. THOMPSON:  And this -- in the -- let me make sure I understand this. 


You are asked to break down the numbers at line 8.  And in 2009 the amount is 14 million, which I believe is 13.5 million rounded up? 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the last three numbers here at the bottom, 3.5, 1.1, and 0.1, totalling 4.7, am I correct that those relate to the clearance of the regulatory assets or deferral accounts that are described in your evidence? 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 


MR. THOMPSON:  And that is based on a four-year clearance.

MR. INNIS:  We're requesting recovery or clearance over four years, correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Clearing them over four years?  Am I right?

MR. INNIS:  That's correct. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And you were asked questions by, I think, the Board, as well as Mr. Aiken, what would be the impact of clearing those over one, two years, three years, and I think there is another one in between. 


But if you would go to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 83, there are a series of dispositions outlined there, right?

MR. INNIS:  Just give me a moment. 


MR. THOMPSON:  They relate to this number of 4.7, do they, in Exhibit I, schedule 15, .1? 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 


MR. THOMPSON:  And my question is -- perhaps you could just answer this -- if the clearance of those deferral-account credits was done over either one year -- well, done over the years 2009 and 2010, when the rates are going to be in force, the 4.7 would become a higher number, right? 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  You have to look at the time period.  The 4.7 relates to a six-month period, from July 1, 2009 to the end of the year.  So the full-year impact would be double that. 


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But if the Board said, We're going to clear these credits over a much shorter period -- in other words, they said your proposal over four was inappropriate, We're going to do it over two or even one, the credit that would go in line 8 would increase, right?

MR. INNIS:  That's correct. 


MR. THOMPSON:  My question is, by how much would it increase?  Assuming we had a credit in -- all of the credits were cleared in '09 and 2010. 


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  I see what you mean.  The 18.3 number that you see in Exhibit I-1, schedule 83, the 18.3 relates to the clearance of the new deferral accounts in this proceeding.  So section F explains the nature of those accounts.  And it totals to 18.3 million.  So that's the new clearance, the funds we want to give back. 


On top of that, what you have to do -- and it's outlined in Exhibit I-1-15 -- we also have existing deferral accounts that we are giving money back as well, clearing from the previous hearing.  So we would have to add those to the 18.3 as well. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. INNIS:  So what we would do is shorten the period, and that would increase the amount given back in any particular year.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can you give me that number -- in other words, the deduction for other charges at 14 million in 2009 would go up by something under this shortened clearance period that I'm talking about. 


Can you give me the number now, or would you like to do it --

MR. INNIS:  I can give you the number now, yes.  What we would have to do is take the 18.3.  So right now that's over four years.  So that would be over two years.  So that would be approximately $9.15 million.  And then to that number what we'd also have to do is go back to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 15, and you will see that there's an amount there for market-ready and export service revenue.  So what we would have to do is give those funds back as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so can I have an undertaking then to provide the increased credit that resulted in line 8 and tables 2 and 4 under the scenario of a deferral-account clearance over two years, rather than four?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Two years, you mean 18 months, Mr. Thompson, because you are looking at 2009/2010?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  So July 1st, 2000 -- is that what you're looking for?  18 months?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I want it all cleared out in the test period. 


MR. INNIS:  So by the end of 2010?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. INNIS:  All deferral accounts cleared? 


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, we can do that. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That's what I was trying to get at.  If I misstated, I'm sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.4. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO PROVIDE THE INCREASED CREDIT THAT RESULTED IN LINE 8 AND TABLES 2 AND 4 UNDER THE SCENARIO OF A DEFERRAL-ACCOUNT CLEARANCE OVER TWO YEARS, RATHER THAN FOUR

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, let's then turn to a couple of other points here, and I am done. 


Compensation.  You had a discussion with Mr. Faye about that, and I won't replough that ground, but I wanted to start with, first of all, your response to Mr. Aiken's interrogatory number 11, Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 11.  
Have I got the right one?  No.  Sorry, it is number 10.  Sorry, starting with number 10.  This is a quote that Mr. Faye put to you earlier this morning.  It was from the study talking about Hydro One, 17 percent above the market median; do you recall that quote?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Mr. Aiken asked you to show the impact on the overall revenue requirement if Hydro One compensation was equivalent to the median, and you gave an explanation as to why -- essentially why you didn't think the question was appropriate, but could we please have that number on the record?

Could you undertake to provide the calculation?  What would be the impact on the overall revenue requirement if Hydro One compensation was equivalent to the median?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, just one second.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. THOMPSON:  It is simply a calculation.  I know you are not going to agree with it, but we would like to have the number on the record.

MR. ROGERS:  They're just conferring, Mr. Thompson.  Be patient, please.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.

MR. ROGERS:  They're just conferring to see whether it can be done.  It's not quite as simple as you might think.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, I've just been conferring with my colleagues and just to reconfirm why we responded the way we did.

I think we indicated there were several issues as to why we didn't want to, and I want to explain why it would be difficult.  One is it would take it to a level that potentially is below the levels that are negotiated through the collective agreement.  So we would be positing or showing you something that can't happen in the current environment.


The other problem is you would then have to go through all of the various groups, the various groups that we're taking a look at the compensation, and the very main categories, take a look at who is above median, below median, do that calculation, and then you would have to try to attribute that to transmission business.

So for those many reasons, we didn't think it was an appropriate thing to do a detailed response.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well --

MR. ROGERS:  So the answer, Madam Chair, is that the company won't agree to that for those reasons.  It is complicated to do.  I'm not sure it can be done.  It would be time-consuming to do, is what I'm hearing, and it is impossible because of the collective agreement, anyway.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am not asking that this be imposed on employees.  I'm just trying to get an assessment of the extent to which what you are paying - you have agreed to pay it - you're going to have to pay it.  It might be unreasonable.


Surely you can provide an estimate of that calculation with all of the qualifiers that you have given.  Can an estimate be provided?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, let me take it under advisement.  I need to find out what is involved here.  I mean, estimates that are totally unreliable are of no value to anybody.


So let me, if I could, Madam Chair, take it under advisement over the evening and find out just what complications there are involved with it.  If an estimate can be provided on a reasonable basis, I think we will undertake to do it.  I would like to just check and see.

Obviously it is causing some concern.  It may be a lot more complicated than it appears on the face.  Could I report to the Board tomorrow on that?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  I would perhaps ask you, if it is complicated, if you could explain why an approach -- and I guess how I interpreted the question, why Hydro One would not just take the median levels for each of the positions and multiply it by the number of people in that position.  That was how I interpreted the question.


So if that is incorrect or if that is not how you feel would be accurate, if you could respond to that, as well?

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.  We will look at that and let you know in the morning.

MR. MILLAR:  We will give that an undertaking number just as a place holder, J3.5, and that is to provide the impact on the overall revenue requirement if Hydro One compensation was equivalent to the median, or to provide the explanation why that can't be done.
Undertaking No. J3.5:  To provide the impact on the overall revenue requirement if Hydro One compensation was equivalent to the median, or to provide the explanation why that cannot be done.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Thompson, I just wonder whether you are satisfied with this, the impact on the revenue requirement, because that may complicate life if they tried to respond to this.  What you're looking for is an estimate on the O&M expenses, if you like.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. VLAHOS:  It's not the revenue requirement, because that may lead into some other calculations that you don't want to go there, necessarily.  Is that what I read?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  You just want the O&M side of it?

MR. THOMPSON:  O&M side of it, correct.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that clear, panel?  Thanks.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  In terms of new staff adds, you were asked some questions about the number of full-time equivalents in transmission, and you claim, and I am paraphrasing - correct me if I am wrong - that we can't do that for transmission.  All our people are in an integrated company, and so we can't give you full-time equivalents.


Is that a fair paraphrase of what you said, for example, to Mr. Aiken at, I think it was, question 11?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think that is a fair assessment.  We don't track FTEs.  We track only head count.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the head count numbers, I think, are in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 19.  I just wanted you to turn that up, if you wouldn't mind.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is this for the whole company?

MR. MCDONELL:  It's for TX and DX, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So if I am reading this correctly, at the end of 2008 - this is on the second page - your head count is 6,881;  end of 2009 it's forecast to be 6,920; and 2010, 7,072.  Is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, I have to qualify this slightly.  And this chart has been the source of much discussion at previous filings.

This is based on a chart that we have at C1, tab 3, schedule 2.  And what these numbers reflect is the number of head count that we have on staff on December 31st.  So there could be staff that were working for Hydro One sometime during the year, but aren't working on December 31st, and those numbers would not be captured.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, directionally, is it giving us the kind of staff -- next staff adds that you are planning for 2009 and 2010?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's a fair estimate.  Directionally, it is going --

MR. THOMPSON:  I have done the math, and it looks like net adds of 39 in 2009 over 2008.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. MCDONELL:  Total staff increased between 2008 and 2009 is 39; that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's 39.  Then total staff from 2010 to 2009 -- 2010 over 2009, I make it to be 152.  Have I done that correctly?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree with you, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  This is all in this time of economic turmoil; right?  You haven't changed those plans?

MR. MCDONELL:  There is economic turmoil, perhaps, yes, but what else is going on in our industry is that we have a very significant demographic challenge that we have to prepare for, and we have to hire staff, knowing that a fairly large number of our regular employees will be retiring over the next number of years, as well as we have an increasing work program.


So we do have to continue to hire staff, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  That is not the trend that's going on in the market today.  People are holding the line on staff or cutting back.

MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps that might be true outside the electrical industry, but I think it is fair to say, in our sector, this is still going on.

MR. THOMPSON:  If I look at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 44, subparagraph (f), do I understand that the impact of these adds over the test period is $30 million?

MR. MCDONELL:  Again, this would be for both our transmission and our distribution business.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But you folks tell us you can't allocate full-time equivalents as between transmission and distribution.  That's what the evidence says.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  But when you come to shared services, the people doing two things in the corporate area or the IT area, you've got allocators for that, and the dollars go.  I mean, it's all extremely refined.  Mr. Rudden does a study.

Why can't you allocate full-time equivalents between transmission and distribution?  What is so complicated about it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I guess, as Mr. McDonell talked about, it's not something we track.  We track the head count.  The dollars for the staff make their way to either a transmission or distribution OM&A capital work program through our costing of work methodology, which is described in Exhibit C1-4-1.

That exhibit talks to the application of standard labour rates, fleet rates, and material rates, to take a dollar of a person to a work program which is either TD, OM&A, or capital.  And that is how the dollars end up in the work program.  That's just the basis of our work-based approach to planning, that we have before our own board of directors and before this Board.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm trying to find from you folks what -- if we're trying to measure the reasonableness of all of this -- and Mr. Faye has taken you to some of the metrics there in the study that he questions, and we certainly understand where he is coming from there.

But what we ask, or people ask you, what are the total number of FTEs in transmission at the end of 2008, and your answer is, we can't do it.  And then what are the total number of FTEs in transmission at the end of 2009?  We can't do it.  2010, we can't do it.

And so what we're left with are these global numbers for the company as a whole that increase costs by $30 million.  How do we allocate that to transmission, on a reasonable basis?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  As I said earlier, the reasonable basis of allocating the costs for labour, material, and other costs to our work program is discussed in detail in the costing-of-work exhibit.  That outlines in detail how the dollars are taken from a labour dollar for a person in, let's say the engineering construction area to the work program.


So what we're saying is, our work-based approach is saying, here is the work program we're undertaking over this time period.  This is what we're trying to achieve by spending these dollars, and this is what we're bringing forward.


We do have, as Mr. McDonell has been talking to, the global numbers, in terms of the number of staff we employ, the amount we pay them, but the way we cost the work is according to this industry-accepted way of standard costing.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me ask this last question.  Assume the Board finds that it's inappropriate to be adding staff in these difficult times.  And we know that the cost of this over the two years is $30 million.


And my question to you is, how much of that should be allocated to transmission in 2009 and 2010?  Half of it?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, I guess now we get to the point of the usefulness of the information to the Board.  And Mr. Rogers talked about this earlier.  I guess, you know, if we were forced, we could do some high-level allocation, but we're not too sure what value that brings to the Board.

We are bringing to the Board the overall staff that we need to run the business.  We're explaining in detail how we allocate those costs to the work programs and what we're getting for the work programs.  That's the basis on which we plan, report, and file in front of this Board.

For us -- we don't look at a person and say, That's a T person and that's a D person.  We look at a person and we say, You're a skilled labourer, and you do work today on this type of work and on this type of work.


So we take those standard labour rates.  And that standard labour rate can be applied to a TD, OM&A, or capital work program, depending on what that person is assigned to.

That's how we -- that's one of the ways we build up the costs in the work program.  Obviously, there are material costs, which are charged directly to a work program as well.

So the allocators you're talking about in the common-cost area can be talked to in detail by Mr. Innis, and we do have the Rudden study, but we feel that the standard costing methodology is a much more appropriate and direct way of getting the costs of labour, material, and fleet to the specific work programs and therefore T&D.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I have given you an opportunity to tell us, and we will leave it there.

My last question is simply another informational question.  It relates to Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1.  And you will see on the first page, where you've got return on capital -- and we have been talking about that previously.  That number is going to be updated.  But that includes AFUDC recovery on Niagara reinforcement project of 5.5 million in 2009 and 6.6 million in 2010.  Do you see that number there?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so that number gets carried forward into tables 2 and 4 that we've been -- or those numbers get carried forward into those two tables, right?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  They're in the cost -- they're in the capital -- sorry, in the return number.  And my question is about that.  That project is held, as I understand it, because of the protests in Caledonia?  Is that a correct understanding of all of that?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  We're unable to complete that project.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the government is trying to solve that problem?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I think so.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I understand that in last year's case you were permitted to recover this carrying cost on this -- this is money you have spent, but you can't complete the project because of the protest.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, we are unable to complete the project, so we asked for special treatment in order to recover the carrying costs of that, and that's what the line item refers to.

There is an Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14 that provides a bit more context to that in response to an interrogatory, and that provides some of the history and the rationale for the special treatment.


MR. THOMPSON:  My question is fundamental.  Why should ratepayers have to pay the carrying costs on this expenditure, which is not being completed because of something the owner is doing with the protesters?  Why doesn't the owner start absorbing this as a matter of --

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  This --

MR. THOMPSON:  -- common sense?

MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry.  This was debated at great length at the last case.  In that case the company actually asked that this be rate-based, and the compromise that the Board imposed was that it be treated in this way.  This was all gone through in the last case, and the Board made a decision.  Nothing has changed, I would submit.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you can help me with this, Mr. -- was the decision it would be paid in perpetuity?  In other words, if this --

MR. ROGERS:  No, I --

MR. THOMPSON:  -- project never gets finished --

MR. ROGERS:  No, Madam Chair, the company would dearly love to finish it and put it in rate base and start to recover its investment, a hundred million dollars or so.


MR. THOMPSON:  With that, thank you very much, Madam Chair.  I am done.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

We will take our afternoon break now for 20 minutes and return then.


--- Recess taken at 3:30 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 3:55 p.m.
DECISION:

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  The Board is ready to deliver its decision on the request for confidentiality for the two documents that were tabled this morning.

Those two documents are -- one is entitled "Schedule A - Hydro One Inc. 2009-2011 Business Plan", dated 14 August 2008, and the second document I will label as the submission to the board of directors of Hydro One regarding the Hydro One 2009 budget and 2010-2011 outlook dated November 13, 2008.

In considering the request for confidentiality, the Board must balance two objectives:  One, to protect the confidentiality of sensitive information where that is appropriate; and, two, to ensure that, wherever possible, that the information that we use for our decisions is on the public record.

We will -- our decision regarding these two documents is that we will grant confidential status to these two documents which were filed this morning, which I previously identified.  We will not require Hydro One to prepare redacted versions of these documents.  We find that there would be limited benefit for the effort involved with that.

With respect to the transcript of the in camera session on Tuesday, we have decided that it will be placed on the public record.  We note that Hydro One's request that it remain confidential was grounded more on matters of principle and that no specific concerns were raised with respect to specific pieces of information in that transcript.

For the parties who have questions on the two documents that were filed this morning, we will have the in camera session tomorrow morning, as Hydro One has proposed, for any questions arising from those.  And we will address the issue of whether that transcript shall remain confidential after we have conducted that in camera session.

Subject to any questions, I think the one thing that remains to be done is to give those two documents exhibit numbers.  I don't believe that has been done yet.  Am I correct that our protocol is to give confidential exhibits some sort of X?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's my personal protocol, which I am trying to spread to the Board.  We put the X after the K, so it would be -- KX3.4 would be this schedule A to the business plan.
Exhibit No. KX3.4 (Confidential):  Schedule A to HONI business plan dated August 14, 2008.

MR. MILLAR:  And KX3.5, I guess we've called it the submission to the board of directors.
Exhibit No. KX3.5 (Confidential):  Submission to HONI board of directors dated November 13, 2008.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Are there any questions arising from that?

MR. ROGERS:  None arising from that, but can I correct an egregious error I am told I made earlier today?  Apparently I said we filed J2.6 and I meant to say J2.8.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, something that has come up, which means I can't be here tomorrow, so my friends have graciously agreed to allow me to go forward now, and I won't be all that long, but I have one question.

I have a couple of what I would characterize as generic questions about the confidential exhibits, no numbers, just the relationship of those filings to other dates.  Can I ask those now or do those have to be part of the --

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am assuming you can ask those now.  Mr. Rogers will advise us if there are any sensitivities arising from that.

MR. ROGERS:  I accept my friend's word he will be careful.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.

Panel, I would like to begin with some clarifying questions, at least clarifying from my perspective, about some exchanges I had with yesterday's panel, and I was directed to make them to you, in connection with the documents that have been filed today.

I think the starting point, from my perspective, would be yesterday's transcript at page 30.  If you could turn that up, please?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the context for the exchange I was having with Mr. Graham then was an exchange about the question of what, if anything, Hydro One Networks had done by way of cost cutting in light of the current economic circumstances.

That exchange begins on page 30, and it continues to the top of page 31.  Mr. Graham, in response to my question, says, and I am quoting:
"I would say that with respect to, particularly, did we undertake an emergency program with respect to responding to the economic situation, that would be true.  We did not do that."

Do you see that exchange?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in response to a question that was posed by Mr. Thompson before the lunch break and explored by him afterwards, my understanding was that Ms. Frank went to the board of directors - and I will get to the date in a moment - with two categories of information.  One was updated information on the demand for 2009-2010, and also, as I understood it, information about the likely impact on Hydro One of what was being contemplated in what's become the Green Energy Act.

As I understand it, a decision was taken by the board of directors that you would not file updated demand information and not file information about the possible implications of what might be in the Green Energy Act, because of the impact or possible impact of those on rates.


I apologize for the long-winded recitation, but do I have it roughly correctly?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, yes, you have it correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in relation to the document which has been filed as Exhibit KX3.5 -- this is the submission to the board of directors, and I am not going to ask you about any of the financial information in it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. WARREN:  That is dated November 13, 2008.  Can you tell me when, in relation to this submission to the board of directors, did Ms. Frank take the information about the updated demand information?  Was it at the same time or subsequently?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It was around the same time.

There are several subcommittees of the board of directors.  There's the - I hope I don't get the name wrong - regulatory and environmental subcommittee of the board of directors.  Ms. Frank does regular reports to that area.


In addition, the chief financial officer takes to the main board of directors the business plan presentation which has been filed in confidence.

At both those meetings, there was a discussion about the impact of the downturn on load, the impact of what we envisioned the Green Energy Act was going to be, because, remember, we're working in concert with government officials and the OPA.  I mean, we're not caught in the blind by this.


The government has been making public statements for quite some time about their need to move in this area, and so we've been doing some thinking about what that impact might be.

So we didn't take -- I don't want to give the impression we took a specific impact analysis, exact rates and so on and so forth.  It was very clear which direction this stuff was going, and in the discussions we had -- "we", the working team, had put to the senior management team, Are we updating or are we not updating beyond the 2008 information?

And the decision was made not to update the revenue requirement for 2009 and 2010, despite the fact we were seeing pressures that would be upward on costs and upwards on rates, all other things being equal.


So I understand that there was a general discussion at the regulatory environment committee, which would have happened around the same time of the board -- I believe before the main board of directors meeting, so probably physically before the November 13th date or whatever it is.

But those discussions didn't happen in isolation.  As the fall went on and we could see the downturn of the economy, and as we led up -- and after we filed and as we led up to the board meeting, there were ongoing discussions between those involved in the planning process.


So Ms. Frank is obviously a key participant.  Mr. Innis' boss, the corporate controller, Karen Newman, is involved in those discussions, and the rest of the senior management team.  They were constantly discussing:  What is the impact of this?  What might it mean?  What are we going to do?


And one of the factors that we are told that was taken into account was the impact on rates and the impact on customers, and that was one of the reasons that they felt they weren't going to update at that point in time.

     MR. WARREN:  Do I understand it, though, there were no numbers that -- specific numbers attached to either the possible impact of the -- of what became of the Green Energy Act or of the downturn in demand?  Is that right?  There were no numbers that were put to them?  

     MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, I wasn't at the board meeting.  I had seen numbers on the load forecast, potential load forecast impact, in the October/November time frame, based on an assumption of what might happen.  I think it's gotten worse since then, is our understanding, but I did -- I personally did see something.  I don't know whether that was physically presented to the board, but they certainly had some form of a discussion around, what does this mean, the economic downturn to Hydro One and to its customers.

     MR. WARREN:  Now, I understood your exchange with Mr. Thompson -- correct me if I'm wrong -- that you made a kind of rough equivalence between Mr. Graham's statement yesterday, or you linked -- a linkage, I'm sorry, is a more accurate way to put it -- is that you linked Mr. Graham's statement that you did not do anything specific to respond to the economic situation, and you linked that with the decision to forego the filing of updated demand information and information on the Green Energy Act.  

     I want to know if I have correctly understood that that is the link, that instead of, if you wish, taking specific measures to respond to the economic circumstances, you have foregone some rate -- possible rate increase by the action you didn't take.  Have I got that correctly?  

     MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  But you can't give me any numbers about what the foregone rate increase might be, because as far as you know the board of directors didn't consider specific numbers; is that right?  

     MR. VAN DUSEN:  With all due respect, Mr. Rogers and the Board, I am now at a point where I am having difficulty, because if I could refer to the material in detail that we're going to have the in camera session on, I would be better position to answer this question. 

     MR. WARREN:  Then I won't violate what I have undertaken to do, and perhaps one of my colleagues can pursue it for me tomorrow.  

     My second question arises from the same transcript yesterday.  If you could turn up page 24.  

     MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, this was an exchange I was having with Mr. Graham, in which I was talking about, the context was, some of the pre-filed evidence had said that if Hydro One Networks doesn't get the sustaining capital and OM&A that it's asking for, that certain adverse impacts would follow.


I asked Mr. Graham if there had been a sensitivity analysis done on how much could be cut in order to -- for those impacts to obtain.  He said that no sensitivity analysis had been done.  And that exchange takes place on pages 24 and 25.  

     My question to you is, should we regard or can the Board regard the exhibits that have been filed today as K3.2 and Exhibit J2.7 as, in effect, an impact analysis?  That is, that you're at a minimum, and that if you cut below the minimum of your filing, that those adverse impacts may follow?  

     MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I would have to disagree with you.  

     If I can take you and the Board to J2.7 and the written words on the second paragraph, and I am going to quote -- so this is J2.7.  It's page 1.  It's not the table.  It is the written words that go with the tables:

"The minimum level of investment is neither a sustainable level of investment, nor is it any way of an acceptable target level of investments."  

     I think we made that quite clear.  We were responding to a specific question on, tell us what the minimum levels are.  And we were happy to file that information, because it demonstrates part of our risk-based process.  

     But, no, to say that the minimum level represents a sensitivity analysis of how low we could go, to deal with the economic crisis, if I could put it that way, no, that is not what this can be used for.  That is not what this portrays, and we would strongly not recommend that.

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  Thank you for those answers on those questions, panel.  

     If I could just -- much of what I wanted to deal with has been covered off by others, but I want to -- I have a specific question which turns on expenses for shared-services facilities and real estate.  And if you could turn up two documents, please.  The first is Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 8, page 1.  

     MR. INNIS:  Can you repeat the exhibits, please? 

     MR. WARREN:  D as in dog, tab 3, schedule 8, page 1.  

     MR. INNIS:  Sorry, I have D-3-8, and, sorry, there was another one? 

     MR. WARREN:  Actually, it turns out I don't think you need the other one, so we will just deal with this one for ease of reference. 

     MR. INNIS:  Okay.  Yes, I have Exhibit D-3-8.  

     MR. WARREN:  The question I have, I just want to make sure I understand it, the numbers.  If you look at the text on page 3, under our combination requirements, it says, roughly speaking, that Hydro One Networks' head-office lease is coming to an end in January 31, 2010, that you are currently looking for alternative accommodations.


You also say in the fourth sentence:

"The existing office interiors are approximately 25 years old and are in need of upgrade and/or replacement."


And it says a little further on down:

"For 2009, the overall cost of completing the improvements, which entails design, engineering, and construction are estimated in the range of 10 to $12 million.  The cost of replacing furniture systems are estimated at approximately 6 to $7 million."

     Now, at the risk of both sounding and being mean-spirited about this, can I not suggest to you, for your response, that spending 6 to $7 million on new furniture at a time when the economy is either in the tank or going into it is something that you could forego?  

     MR. VAN DUSEN:  If one was to say to Hydro One, 'You need to take out 6 or $7 million, come hell or high water,' yes, this might be one of the areas that we would go to.  

     However, part of the redesign of the head-office facilities entails more than just giving us nicer chairs to sit on.  They're health and safety issues, they are heating/ventilation/air-conditioning-related issues.  There's accommodation of the larger workforce and how to ergonomically put them in the same space.  

     There are some really real health-and-safety-related issues, as well as, just how do you most efficiently accommodate the people associated with that 6 or $7 million.  

     In addition, the furniture that we have was not new furniture when we moved into this facility.  It was existing furniture.  But I take your point.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, the 10 to $12 million, can you -- do I understand that that is for the new office space?  This is new office space in the GTAA.  Is it one office building or several office buildings?  

     MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't believe the ultimate decision has been made as to whether it would be one or several.  This estimate here is a high-level estimate that I believe assumes one facility, but in reality in the end it could be several facilities.  

     As you well know, Hydro One occupies several facilities in the GTA area already.  We have the facility at 483 Bay Street which houses the main head offices.  We have facilities at Clegg Road, which house our call centre and other support staff.  And then we have accommodations at Muriel Street in Newmarket, associated with our project management office, for the Cornerstone-related project.  We have, obviously, control facilities out of the Richview system, so -- which house some staff from Hydro One Telecom as well.


So there are many facilities, but this is really talking about the main head-office facility and what are we going to do there.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, I don't believe -- and I've -- there is a mountain of paper in this case, and I may have missed this, but I don't believe that this particular data has been updated.  Am I right?  These numbers have not been updated?  

     MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  The only thing we updated was the 2008 actual expenditures.  I believe the bridge year forecast that we had was $9.8 million, and the actual expenditures, as we filed on February 13th, was 7.1.  But, yes, that's the only data we have updated here.

MR. WARREN:  From what I read in the -- at least in the business pages of the Globe and Mail, the commercial landlords in downtown Toronto are offering free pencils and coffee cups to anybody who wants to rent space.


I am just wondering if you have been able to refine these numbers to see if you can find less expensive space or the same space for less cost?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will answer your question directly, and let me go back to a principle matter that I think is important.

Hydro One operates as a commercial basis.  We are incorporated under the Ontario Business Corporations Act.  Our mandate is to act in a commercial manner.

So just in terms of having that on the record, I will go on to say, yes, if we can obtain better deals, especially in the economic climate, there is no question that we will do that.


Do I know exactly where those discussions are now?  I'm sorry, I don't.

MR. WARREN:  My last question is just a clarification on the Cornerstone project.  I am not certain I understand from the evidence what the forecast expenses are for Cornerstone in -- what the actual expenses were in 2008 and what the forecast expenses are in 2009-2010.  Do you have those numbers?

MR. CURTIS:  Which exhibit would you like to go to?

MR. WARREN:  Well, the exhibits are Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, and there's a Board Staff interrogatory, which is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 74, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 74.

MR. CURTIS:  All right.  Perhaps if we start off with D1-3-5?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  So on table 1, what we are talking about there are the costs, the capital costs, for Cornerstone, and the actual year end number was $107.1 million.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. CURTIS:  And of that, the allocation to transmission is $59.1 million, which is in table 2.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. CURTIS:  I am not sure.  Did you have a specific question around those numbers?

MR. WARREN:  No.  I wanted to clarify what the numbers were, but I also wanted to determine this.  There's a very substantial -- as I look at, for example, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 74 on the second of the two pages, the capital expenditures for Cornerstone in the test years are very substantial.

They're $100 million in 2009; $63.5 million in 2010.

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Has the Cornerstone project at any point been subject to any external review to see the reasonableness of those numbers?

MR. CURTIS:  No, it has not.

MR. WARREN:  Is there a reason why that's the case?

MR. CURTIS:  What we have done is that we have recruited an external consultant that is expert in this area, and we have relied on that consultant in terms of the reasonableness of what the expenditures are that we are forecasting.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, there's an external consultant.  Has the external consultant been seconded - I'm sorry - to Hydro One, or does he or she remain an external consultant?

MR. CURTIS:  We hired them as a consultant to work on this particular project, so they are working for Hydro One, yes, on this project, but they remain available for anybody else, obviously, to hire, as well.

MR. WARREN:  Who are the external consultants?

MR. CURTIS:  Accenture Corporation.

MR. WARREN:  Do they produce periodic reports for you on the Cornerstone project?

MR. CURTIS:  This is a joint activity, but, yes, there are reports continually -- continuously, as far as the costs that are being incurred.

MR. WARREN:  For the test years 2009-2010, would there be reports from Accenture with respect to, broadly speaking, the reasonableness of those estimated or forecast costs?

MR. CURTIS:  They wouldn't be from Accenture, specifically, but we do have cost forecasts that -- you know, for those two years, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Is part of Accenture's function to assess independently the reasonableness of the forecast costs, and, indeed, secondarily, to assess the effectiveness of the Cornerstone project as a whole?  Is that part of their function?

MR. CURTIS:  As far as assessing the overall costs, they are actually helping us in terms of the costing exercise.  So as far as that, they are supporting that work.

In terms of the reasonableness of putting it in place, yes, they're very key in terms of assisting us with that.

MR. WARREN:  What I'm wondering, sir, if I could cut to it, because did late in the day, if there is any material which you can provide us, any advice or reports from Accenture, that would allow us to have, if you wish, a second opinion on the Cornerstone project, or are there reports that can be filed with us or analyses from Accenture that would be filed with us?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, can I take that under advisement?  There are reports.  I think the witness has said -- I would like to just have a look to see what is available.  Can I report to the Board in the morning on that?  If they're readily available and there is nothing -- no other concerns about it, I think, yes, we will produce them.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Let me publicly thank my friends for allowing me to intrude on their schedule.  I appreciate it.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I will give an undertaking number, J3.6, and that is to provide, to the extent they exist -- Mr. Warren, could you describe the undertaking?

MR. WARREN:  What I have asked for is to provide, to the extent that they exist, any reports or analyses from Accenture with respect to the Cornerstone project.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, let's limit it to the test period.

MR. WARREN:  Test period, I'm sorry.  Yes, that's fair.
Undertaking No. J3.6:  To provide reports or analyses, if any, from Accenture with respect to the Cornerstone project for the test years.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  That concludes your examination?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, it does.  I'm so sorry, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  I think given the hour, we will adjourn for the day, and we will begin with the in camera session at 9:30 tomorrow morning.

Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:28 p.m.
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